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Tuesday, May 24, 2011


--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.  My name is Ken Quesnelle.  I'll be presiding over today's proceeding.


The Board sits today on the matter of an application filed by Union Gas Limited with the Ontario Energy Board on December 17th, 2010.  The application, filed as per section 90 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, is for an order granting leave to construct approximately 6.6 kilometres of 8-inch diameter and 0.6 kilometres of 12-inch diameter natural gas pipeline in the City of London and the Municipality of Middlesex Centre in the County of Middlesex.


The Board has assigned application number EB-2010-0381.


The Board has issued two procedural orders to date establishing the date for filing of interrogatories, interrogatory responses, the filing date for intervenor evidence and the interrogatory schedule for that, as well.


The second procedural order also established today's date for this hearing.


By letter dated May 18th, 2011, counsel for the County of Middlesex, an intervenor in this application, notified the Board that it would be calling evidence and seeking leave to file a report.  By letter dated May 19th, counsel for the applicant requested that due to the late filing and the lack of time to delay the hearing, that the evidence be struck.


The Board issued a letter to County of Middlesex stating that it would allow the report to be filed, but that it would not permit the late filing to prejudice Union's application and that it would accommodate Union's efforts at discovery through the oral hearing to the extent reasonably possible.


The Board would like to hear more from the parties on this matter in a moment, but first I will take appearances.

Appearances:


MR. JUDSON:  I'm John Judson.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Judson.  There is a small green button in front.  And, thank you, Mr. Judson.  And as far as protocol goes, we can remain seated throughout the hearing.


MR. JUDSON:  I assumed that was the case, since the microphone is not very handy for standing.


MR. QUESNELLE:  No, very good.  You're welcome, Mr. Judson.


MR. JUDSON:  Thank you.  And I have with me Mr. Chris Traini, the county engineer, and Mr. Antony Fediw, who is the consult from AECOM whose report you spoke of earlier.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Welcome.


MS. ANNIS:  Kristyn Annis, counsel for Union, McCarthy Tétrault.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Annis.


MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I'm joined by Mr. Khalil Viraney and Mr. Neil McKay.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Millar, thank you.


I guess before I ask -- sorry, are there other appearances, no -- if there are any other preliminary matters, I would like to hear from the parties on the late filing of evidence that I just spoke of.  We have a report.  The Board has admitted the report in, but had noted in its acceptance of the report that there was a procedural matter that was overlooked and that it was -- the Board was not going to allow the late filing to prejudice Union, and would assist the applicant in any way that it could in dealing with the late filing of this evidence.


First of all, if I could ask, Mr. Judson, if you've --

Preliminary Matters:


MR. JUDSON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.  First of all, let me express our apology for the late filing.  This was a series of circumstances, not the least of which was the late retaining of counsel.  The County of Middlesex was having ongoing discussions with the Union Gas in the hopes of being able to resolve the major outstanding issue, which is simply the lack of adequate road allowance.


And, as a result, when those broke down, Procedural Order No. 1 had already been issued and, in fact, had been met.  Procedural Order No. 2 came out just at the time that counsel was retained.


It was my advice to the county that I thought a peer assessment would be helpful, and that was where AECOM's report came in.  And it was received the day I sent it to you or the day before.  I may be wrong about that, but...


So we were well aware that we were out of time, but I had hoped that given the fairly straightforward nature, in one sense, of this application, that Union Gas, in the interests of wanting to have all matters canvassed, would see fit to not object.  I was, of course, wrong, and I appreciate the Board's willingness to let us file the materials subject to as complete a disclosure as you see reasonable.


In fact, it certainly will be my intention to not take any significant time in the qualifications and introduction of Mr. Fediw and his report.  The report speaks for itself, and Ms. Annis can have all the time she wants, subject to the Board's direction, to explore it.


I can say, if it assists her and you, sir, that the primary issue that brings us here today is not simply certain deficiencies in the Azimuth report.  They are there.  But, rather, the county is not objecting to an extension of a pipeline down Wonderland Road, which is the road in question.  The objection is to the timing.


The City of -- sorry, the County of Middlesex assumed jurisdiction over that piece of road only last July.  In November, they learned that there was an intention to put a pipeline down that road, which is a very, very, very much under-standard road allowance.  It's only like 20 metres.  Minimum municipal standards now are 30 metres.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Judson, we will likely get to that.


MR. JUDSON:  Right.  I was just thinking if this assisted Ms. Annis in understanding what we'd like to -- the scope and focus of where we were.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I appreciate that.  On that line, yeah, if that's your rationale, yes, carry on to that end.  I just --


MR. JUDSON:  All I wanted to say briefly was that the position of the county is that we have pre-design work ongoing for the improvement of that road.  That work will take up to two years to complete.  If Union Gas saw fit to delay its construction of this line for two years, we wouldn't need to be here.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Judson.


Ms. Annis.


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.  We obviously accept the Board's direction in admitting the evidence.  I would like to spend some time in the qualifications of Mr. Fediw, just given the report and how it's being issued, and actually the content of the report.


We would request -- depending on how the morning goes and the cross-examination of our witnesses and the testimony of the county, we may request some time to develop our cross-exam, if necessary.


So we may be requesting a break at some point, just to reconvene, if that's --


MR. QUESNELLE:  That's fine.


MS. ANNIS:  -- a possibility.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And we'll see how the morning goes.  Thanks, Ms. Annis.


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Millar, do you have anything to say at this point?


MR. MILLAR:  No, I don't, sir.  I think the letter was clear that we would be -- that the Board would be as accommodating as possible.  It sounds like we will find a way to work something out.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Any other preliminary matters to deal with?  So I take it the order this morning, Ms. Annis, you have a panel up, a witness panel?


MS. ANNIS:  Yes, I do.  And there is actually just a small preliminary matter.  It's just a correction of a typo which should be brought to the Board's attention.  Paragraph 30 of the prefiled evidence refers to a nominal wall thickness of 8.2 millimetres, whereas the actual wall thickness will be 6.4 millimetres.


Now, this is correctly referenced in schedule 9 so -- of the prefiled evidence.  It's just a typo.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.

Opening Statement by Ms. Annis:


MS. ANNIS:  It doesn't change anything in the project.


Okay.  First of all, I'd like to introduce the Board to our panel.  And I'll allow them to introduce themselves and give their title and responsibilities at Union or otherwise, starting with Dale Fisher.


MR. FISHER:  I'm Dale Fisher, the manager of distribution planning at Union Gas.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I'm --


MR. QUESNELLE:  The operation of this microphones are that the two of them are linked together, so one button turns them both on and either button turns them on or off, sort of thing.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Thank you.  My name is Don Beauchamp.  I'm the manager for construction and growth in the London/Sarnia district, responsible for all the construction activity, basically, within the new gas.


MR. VADLJA:  My name is Aurel Anton Vadlja.  I am the lead technical specialist, construction permitting at Union Gas, and I'll be speaking to environmental matters.


MR. NEALS:  My name is Paul Neals.  I'm with Azimuth Environmental.  I'm the vice-president of Azimuth Environmental, and I'm an environmental planner.  And I was the project manager and lead author on the environmental report.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Your panel are ready to be sworn, Ms. Annis?


MS. ANNIS:  All right.  Yes.

UNION GAS - PANEL 1


Dale Fisher, Sworn


Don Beauchamp, Sworn


Aurel Anton Vadlja, Sworn


Paul Neals, Sworn


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Ms. Annis.

Examination-In-Chief by Ms. Annis:


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you.


And I should just mention quickly I have beside me Mark Murray, who is the manager of regulatory affairs and land acquisitions at Union Gas.


So, I think -- I mean, the Board provided a good overview of the project.  The evidence is -- is that the cost of the pipeline is estimated to be $2.3 million.  An economic analysis is being completed in accordance with the recommendations of the Ontario Board -- Ontario Energy Board ECO188.


And the project is economically justified; the cost of the project is not in question at this proceeding.


As will be further elaborated in the proceedings, in order to ensure that London customers do not experience low-pressure events, it is imperative that the proposed facility be in service by November 2011, and we are therefore seeking an order by the Board, an approval by the Board by June 2011.  This has been made clear to the county and those participating in the proceedings.


And we've already dealt with the issue of the additional evidence, and so that will be dealt with further as we go on.


So I'll start just giving a general overview, if, Dale -- could you describe the existing gas supply in the London area?


MR. FISHER:  So the City of London has roughly 115,000 customers.  It is fed mainly from two transmission pipelines.


There's the Byron transmission line, which was built roughly -- in the 1960s, and the Byron transmission line feeds into Byron transmission station which on the south side of the city.


And then on the eastern side of the city, there is the London north line, which was built in the '50s, and the London north line feeds into London north station, which is on the northeast side of the city.


So out of Byron transmission and London north transmission, there is a -- high-pressure distribution pipelines, and the high-pressure distribution pipelines come out of those two transmission stations, run along the far western and far eastern side of the city, all the way to the far southerly border of the city, and then they sort of run and tie together on the south side of the city.


And then all of the distribution stations are off of those high-pressure pipelines, and those distribution stations - there are quite a number of them - they reduce the pressure to the 420 kPa distribution pressure.  And that's mainly what serves, that 420 kPa distribution network is mainly what serves all the customers in the city of London.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Fisher, you just mentioned -- I'm just trying to get a visual here, unless there's a map that you can take me to that will easier describe that -- the Byron transmission line is in the southwest corner of the city?


MR. FISHER:  Actually, there's a map that was submitted in the evidence.  I believe it's schedule 1, I think.


Yes.  And so Byron transmission is in the southwest and London north is in the northeast.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. FISHER:  It's documented in schedule 1.  And all of that green is the large 420 kPa distribution network, which is where most of our customers are fed from.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  You just lost me when you described the high-pressure pipes that come out of – emit from both stations and how they're connected.


MR. FISHER:  So do you see the red that comes out of Byron transmission and the red that comes out of London north?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah.


MR. FISHER:  They eventually get to blue and red that kind of ties together.  It does get lost a little bit in the map.  The blue and red eventually do get tied together.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I have it.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So the need for the pipeline is not necessarily -- or is not contested here.  But for the record, though, and the Panel's benefit, can you describe what led Union to the conclusion that a new pipeline is necessary?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yeah.  Within the city line, there is rapid growth in the northwest section of London.  There is five subdivisions that that currently have about 14,000 residential lots that have been approved by the city of London, and within those, as I mentioned, there's rapid growth.  We're anticipating approximately 2,000 new attachments annually for the next 10 years, and within the next 10 years we would obviously expect about 20,000 new attachments during that time.  So the need for that new feed is now, so...


MS. ANNIS:  And is that in schedule 3 of the -- just to help the Board?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, I believe it is.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And just to clarify, Dale, you mentioned that there are 2,000 customers per year.


Is that in the city of London generally, or is this concentrated in a specific area?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  It's generally in the city of London, throughout the city of London, but the majority of that growth is in the northwest corner of that section.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And the northwest is -- the northwest corner is the area that we're looking at here, where the pipeline is proposed?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  That's correct.  So the pipeline itself actually is a critical tie-in point there at the intersection of Fanshawe and Wonderland, which serves both a 10-inch line that runs west and east off the -- that tie-in point, as well as another pipeline that runs south down Wonderland Road that services that area in terms of the growth.


So whenever you're looking at the growth, it actually -- there's two to three new subdivisions that are developing to the east of that critical tie-in point, and then there's three to the west of that critical tie-in point, as well.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And perhaps this might be useful time to introduce, I think, Exhibit 1, which is the map that was provided to the Board of the line.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Ms. Annis.


Mr. Quesnelle, you should have a copy in front of you.  It's a colour blow-up of the map.  We'll call that Exhibit K1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  MAP OF NEW LINE.


MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Annis, is this just a blow-up of an existing map on the record, or is this a new map?


MS. ANNIS:  It would be a new map, because they've added some information that they thought would help clarify.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Now, before we get into kind of a description of the facility, it would probably be helpful to help the Board understand how it was decided that a pipeline in the northwest would be the option that Union would proceed with.


MR. FISHER:  I guess so.  What we're currently seeing now in our hydraulic model is that we actually have low pressures already in that northwest area of London.  So based on the attachment rates that we're seeing and projected to see, we undertook what we call a facilities business plan.


That's where we take the current loads that we have in our hydraulic model and combine them with the future loads that we're predicting, and for attachments.  That helps us to get a year-by-year projection of how the system would grow and how it would react.


Based on that, the facility's business plan actually showed that we would be at risk of losing customers in the 2011/2012 winter.  And so once we determined that we were at the risk of losing customers due to lack of pressure, we started to review the various alternatives on how to get more gas to northwest London.  And those were all the alternatives that are documented in schedule 8 of the evidence.


And after reviewing all the alternatives, we determined that the best course of action would be to build a high pressure distribution line from the existing pipeline on Ten Mile Road and tying into the intersection of Wonderland and Fanshawe.  That was the most beneficial, because that tie-in point on Wonderland and Fanshawe is kind of right at the centre of where we had the lowest pressures, and it also has a 10-inch pipe heading west, a 10-inch pipe heading east, and a 10-inch pipe heading south.  So that gets us to distribute to all these new potential developments that are happening.


And the starting point was a tie-in to the existing facilities to use the existing facilities on Ten Mile Road, as well.  And that was kind of -- that whole process was sort of elaborated in the schedule 8 of the evidence.


MS. ANNIS:  So, Dale, the critical tie-in that you're talking about here, just in terms of referring to the map, would be kind of the bottom, towards the bottom of the map, where Fanshawe meets Wonderland?


MR. FISHER:  Yes, kind of the "T" of the orange pipe, so the orange pipe going east and west.  There's kind of a 10-inch pipe heading east and west, and an 8-inch pipe heading south.


MS. ANNIS:  And the 10-inch tie-in is Union Gas, the transmission pipeline that's towards -- up at the top of the map?


MR. FISHER:  That's the 8-inch pipeline going south on Ten Mile Road, yes.  So our existing Forest-Hensall line.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Now, I mentioned in my opening statement that we are seeking approval for the -- of this line by June 2011 for a November 2011 time frame for construction.


Can you elaborate -- can the panel elaborate on the critical nature of that time line?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  Taking a look at it, as Dale has mentioned, with regards to loss of customers, we have larger customers within that area where we're concerned with losing customers in the 2011/2012 winter.  Some of those customers are customers such as University of Western Ontario, the university hospital, as well as the London Health Sciences Hospital there in London, as well.  Those would be our bigger customers that we could potentially lose.


There is also a student residence along that area as well that we would potentially lose, as well.


And with the right degree day, if we were actually to start losing customers, we could lose up to 14,000 residential customers, plus.


MR. FISHER:  That would be if we get our design case of coldest temperature from our design study that -- our temperature study that we have on file.


If we reach our design day temperature from our temperature study that's already on file with the OEB, we would lose those customers that Don said we would lose.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Can we get, perhaps, a general description of the proposed facility?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Sure.  Probably the easiest way to do that is just looking at the map here that was provided.


So currently there's an 8-inch pipeline that runs down Wonderland Road to Ten Mile Road, and it currently runs along Ten Mile and ties into our transmission station over off of Richmond.  It is -- the recommended road is to come off of that 10-inch pipeline that is located at Ten Mile and Wonderland, and run south to a station that we'll be installing, as well, as part of this project, located at the First Bible Church at just north of Fanshawe and Park Road.


You can see on the map there's a little black square.  That's where the actual station would be located.  So the 8-inch would come down that location.  The end of the station would obviously be the 8-inch that we would be running down the road, Wonderland Road, and then coming out of the station we would use a 12-inch pipeline to tie into the 10-inch that we have running both west and east and the 8-inch running South on Wonderland, as Dale explained earlier.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And what about the design of the facility?  I mean, there are certain codes and standards.  Can you speak to those?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  So all of our designs or installations would meet all codes and standards per the Ontario act, as well as there is no -- there's currently no setbacks or there is no proposed setbacks on any dwellings with regards to this pipeline.  It's the same pipeline we have running north of Ten Mile Road.  There's no setbacks on that pipeline.


And as you mentioned earlier, the wall thickness of that pipeline is actually 6.4 millimetres, so...


MS. ANNIS:  So just to go back on a point you mentioned there, Dale, you mentioned that there is an existing pipeline on the northern part of Wonderland Road.  Is that essentially the same as what you're proposing south of Ten Mile Road?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. ANNIS:  And that road is in the jurisdiction of the county?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So we've spoken a bit about the alternatives that were examined.  That leads us to the routing, once you had landed on the fact that a pipeline would be necessary.  Can we speak to the proposed rutting of the facility?


MR. NEALS:  There, the technology is on.


When we started this study, the northern end point along Ten Mile Road where the existing pipeline is could be along basically that section that you see within the study area.  So it could either be at the east or the west end.


The southerly end point was fixed at Wonderland Road and Fanshawe Park.  We looked at the study area, and looking at the features that were there and the road allowances, the road allowances are typical municipal rural road allowances that are maintained generally with ditches and grass side, gravel and asphalt.


The areas between the road allowances is predominantly class 1 to 3 agricultural land.  The wood lots that you see on your figure have been identified as significant woodlands primarily because of the limited number of woodlands in the area.


So when we looked at our routing, we focussed on the ability to utilize road allowances for the pipeline.  We did that based on that we saw no significant encumbrances to using them.  Plus our past experience with pipeline approvals through the Board has been given the use or approved the use of road allowances.


We also went through a public consultation, an agency consultation effort.  We had a public meeting and discussed routing alternatives with the public and the agencies.


The alternatives we looked at involve basically Wonderland Road and coming down Highway 4.  The largest constraint on Highway 4 was coming through the community of Arva.  Arva is a community that is built up close to Highway 4, so it's immediately adjacent to it.


There's a number of businesses and residences through the area.  Medway Creek is quite an incised watercourse, so it would be difficult to cross or more difficult than some of the other options.


Also coming down Highway 4, you would come into an urban commercial area of London, and then you would have to go west along Fanshawe Park Road to come to the end point where the station was proposed.


We looked at different east/west options.  The basic premise we had in going east/west is, if we were to go over and use Highway 4, we wanted to come down as far as we could on that one, because the Highway 4 has a wider road allowance.  So if we were going to optimize the use of that wider road allowance, we would come as far south as we could.


That resulted in the alternative to come down Highway 4 and along Eight Mile Road.


The other option, which is Wonderland Road, which is our preferred route, is a straight route, a direct route, from the tap point down the proposed station.  We selected the Wonderland Road primarily because it was the shortest route.  At the time we did the study, the comments we received from different agencies didn't identify any significant constraints to using that road.  They felt the pipeline could be accommodated within it.


There were some issues as we came into the city of London that were identified by the city, but Union Gas staff were able to work with the city of London on those issues.


Again, because of the public consultation and the agency consultation at the time our report was prepared, we did not identify any significant constraints to the use of Wonderland Road.  That's why it was selected as our preferred route.


MS. ANNIS:  And, Paul, when were these consultations carried out?


MR. NEALS:  The public consultation was carried out in November, and notices were sent out -- again, it's our -- we sent them out to the agencies and the municipalities.  And I believe there was 56 letters sent to residents along Wonderland Road inviting them to the public meeting, which was held at the first Forest City Church.


MS. ANNIS:  And there's been no -- have there been any comments from landowners, or have you encountered any resistance from landowners?


MR. NEALS:  Generally the landowners were supportive of the use of the road allowance, because they didn't feel it would impact their private property.


MS. ANNIS:  And is it possible that some of the landowners along that route would be, in fact, making use of the pipeline at some point?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  Actually, we have -- since the open house we had in November of last year, we have received requests for service.


MS. ANNIS:  So the county is -- actually, just before we get on to that, there was -- at one point, the city of London had intervened in this process.


Are there any concerns with the city of London right now?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  John Lucas was the gentleman that we worked with at the city of London, and at this time they have no future concerns.


MS. ANNIS:  Good.  So the other intervenor in this process is the county, and I guess the first question I would have is -- we mentioned that the public consultations were in November 2010.  The direct -- question here is:  When did the county first learn of the proposal, the project, generally?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  So within my staff, I have construction project managers that attend the utility's coordinating committee meetings frequently on the city line, and it's actually every other week.  And what happened was on May 2010, it was actually put on the agenda to be discussed, and unfortunately due to timing, the conversation about the third London reinforcement project was actually deferred.


So it was actually put back on the agenda on September 15th, 2010, by Taylor Jones, who is the project manager that reports to me in London, and that was presented to -- presented at that time.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And the proposal that was put forth in September 2010 to the county, is that the same route that is before the Board right now?  Has any of the evidence changed?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  No.  It's always been our proposal to run a line on Wonderland Road.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And we understand that there were some alternatives that were discussed with the county.  And one of these alternatives included looking at obtaining private easements along Wonderland Road.  So that would be putting the pipeline just east, I guess, of the right of way.


Can you provide some details on that?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  In response to both the city and the county's letters that were dated back in the -- in early January -- or sorry, late January timeframe, we had requested a meeting with both John Lucas and Chris Traini to attend a meeting with myself and the project managers of out of head office, to discuss the proposed running line and come up with a recommended approach to installing the pipeline.


During that conversation, it was recommended by Mr. Traini to -- and, sorry, Mr. Lucas as well -- to obtain land easements along the east side, or at least obtain land easements within Wonderland Road.


We recommended the east side of Wonderland Road, simply because it minimized the number of easements we would have to obtain.  And through that, we walked away from that meeting on February 14th with the agreement that we would actually use that approach in actually obtaining land easements.  However, if we weren't successful in obtaining land easements from landowners, our routing would still be what we had originally filed with the Ontario Energy Board.


There was also conversation that if we were successful in obtaining a large majority of land easements, what we would do is we would actually route our pipeline sort of outside of the current road allowance into the new easement, and then back on to the road allowance to try to mitigate future impacts if that was the case.


So that was actually around the timeframe of -- it was February 14th we actually had the discussions.  Immediately after that, our land agents proceeded with discussions with landowners and working with them to try to obtain land easements along Wonderland Road.  And within the county jurisdiction we were only able to obtain two optional agreements.


MS. ANNIS:  So two out of how many?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  There was 12 in total that we would have required to have all the easements.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So it was -- I mean, the -- you had already started your proceedings at the Ontario Energy Board.  Was the reason that you needed to obtain willing landowners, was -- did that have tie-in with the proceedings?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  In our discussions was that Union Gas was not interested in -- we wanted a user-friendly approach to obtaining land amendments.


So it was agreed that once we walked away from that meeting, that we would actually go out and proceed and do that.


So we did that throughout the month of March; our land agents worked with landowners to try to obtain those easements.  And as I mentioned, we actually had two options to obtain land amendments, and the rest we were not successful in obtaining.


And I did communicate that to the county on the 15th of April, that we were not successful.  So we were proceeding with our regular routing as per filed with the OEB, so...


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So basically, you could only proceed if you did have willing landowners, is what you're...


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That is correct.  From the two that we were able -- the two easements we were able to obtain, one was more or less a residential lot, the other one was a little bit of agriculture, but from a constructability standpoint, it did not make sense for us to put our pipeline out in that area.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Now, turning specifically, we

had -- Union received a letter from the county dated January 25th, 2011, and some of the concerns in the letter include the width of the right of way and the relocation of the facility when -- if the road gets reconstructed.


So starting first with the width of the right of way, can the panel speak to that concern there and how that was addressed by Union?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  So initially what we did when we received the letter was we reviewed the letter and looked at the concerns.


And in response to them, we actually sent a letter to the county on the 10th of February, dated February 10th.  And that was part of a meeting request to meet with the county, as well, to discuss some of the concerns, so that we could work through those with the counties and the city.  And those were addressed at that time.


Chantal Smith, our district engineer, was the one that actually responded to the county with regards to their concerns.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Okay.  And speaking to the -- there was also -- another concern raised by the county was the potential future reconstruction of Wonderland Road.


How was that reconstruction brought to your attention, and what were the details on that?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  So typically, we work very closely with the municipalities in making sure that, first of all, when we construct a pipeline, we want to make sure that we can minimize the future impacts with regards to our pipeline.


So we do have a project team that's established at Union Gas, that report to me directly.  And what we do is we, through our utility coordinating committees and just ongoing consultation with the counties and the municipality -- the municipalities, we find out some of their other projects that are going on, and as a result, what we'll do is we'll actually work with them to try to mitigate any future impacts to our pipeline, even after it's installed, to see if there's any workarounds to make sure.


This particular project, what we did was we -- in our meeting and discussion with the county and the city to mitigate some of the future drainage concerns that they expressed -- was that we had offered to install our pipeline deeper than normal, so maybe at a two-metre depth versus the standard 1.2-metre depth.


We also offered that during construction we would provide depth shots for that, so that when they came and constructed their drainage or if there was any road construction that would be potentially in conflict, we would know exactly the depth of our pipeline.


And we at that time had requested some engineering drawings.  The city of London was only in a position to provide us those drawings about mid-February.  And I know the county is still working on those, so they weren't able to provide us anything at that time for us to be able to work with them on that.


MS. ANNIS:  And how was -- your offer to two-metre depth and depth shots, how was that received by the county?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I think the interest was to basically get it out of the existing road allowance.  There was -- that was the objective, I think, was to get it into an easement, or at least 17.1 metres, I believe, was the measurement that we wanted to get off of the existing centre line of road that's there today.


So there wasn't a lot of conversation about that after we had proposed it.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So no response.


Finally, I think, the letter raises the concerns with the environmental study that was carried out by Azimuth on behalf of Union.  Before we get into the details and how those were addressed with the county, Paul, perhaps you could provide just a brief overview of your experience and what -- the kinds of reports that you've done for Union before.


MR. NEALS:  We've done a number of pipeline projects, routing projects.  A number of them have dealt with cross-country options, as well as dealing with road allowances.


Other pipeline projects we've worked on with comparable sized pipelines, we've been able to put them in the road allowance through Union Gas’s work with the individual municipalities.


We appreciate the issues that the county had with the routing.  However, when we did our study, we weren't able to incorporate that information, because we didn't have it.  And, again, based on our experience on other projects and working with Union Gas engineers, the ability to come up with a solution from an engineering and technical perspective we had seen before, and we fully expected that that could be achieved in this situation, as well.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And so the letter from the county, how were those concerns addressed?  I mean, we have a specific reference to a February 10th, 2011 follow-up letter.  Did that deal with the environmental concerns?


MR. VADLJA:  We did attempt to address those concerns, yes, in that letter.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So now coming to the letter that was introduced into evidence on May 18th, when did -- just before we get into the substance of the letter, when did the county -- or when did Union provide the county with a copy of the Azimuth report, the environmental report?


MR. NEALS:  Based on our records, I think it was around December 15th.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So the AECOM letter or exhibit, I guess it's not -- we'll refer to it as the AECOM letter -- raises several items which appear to be grouped into eight comments, and perhaps the best way to address the letter is to go through those comments.


The first one is comment 1, in which AECOM seems to suggest that the proposed facility will only serve London.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  As I mentioned earlier, that's not correct, and we have obtained requests already from residents along the Wonderland Road to action for service.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Beauchamp, what's entailed in providing that service from a high pressure pipe?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  So what we would do is we would tie into that pipeline and we would have a first stage cut located at each of the property lines, and then we would service the customer that way to their home.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So it's something that's typically done, then.  It's not an unusual service arrangement?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  No, it's not.  It's typically done, yes.


MS. ANNIS:  And comments 2 and 3 relate to the impact of construction and how these can be contained within the road allowance.  Have we -- can you address those for me?


MR. VADLJA:  Sure.  Perhaps it might be helpful just to refer to Exhibit K1.1, the map that was provided.


If you look at the map, I mean, the Wonderland Road route is predominantly rural, except at the southern end-most point where we run into the city of London.  And, typically, along that route you would expect to find hedgerows, drains, trees, lawns, so nothing atypical along this route.


These are features that we have standard construction practices for, and these are issues and features that we intercept and deal with on a daily basis.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay, thank you.


Comment 4 relates to alternative routes and mentions some specific alternatives.  Some of the alternatives that are mentioned are the westward and eastward routes that are outside of the study area, and then routes along Adelaide Street and Hyde Park Road, which I understand are outside of the study area.


Can we address those alternatives and why they weren't chosen?


MR. FISHER:  Yes.  Those were sort of ruled out as part of schedule 8, as well.  I think I'd like to refer to schedule 5 of the evidence.  It would be helpful.


And so if you look at schedule 5, we circled the area where we were having the greatest pressure concern and we were seeing a lot of connections.  And so those two alternatives don't really supply gas from where the source would be, which is the pipeline on Ten Mile Road, to where we really need to get to to distribute gas to that area.


MS. ANNIS:  So basically it didn't serve your needs?


MR. FISHER:  Yes, from a hydraulic model point of view, it didn't boost up the pressures in that area to alleviate the risk of losing customers on a cold winter day.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And that applies to Adelaide Street and Hyde Park Road?  Those would be the eastward considerations?


MR. FISHER:  Yes.


[Query by the Reporter]


MS. ANNIS:  And that would be the routes that would include Adelaide Street and Hyde Park Road?


MR. FISHER:  Yes, it would include both of those, as well.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And what about the Sunningdale alternative?  Perhaps first for the benefit of the Panel, describe what that alternative is using the map, and then we can discuss why it was chosen or was not chosen.


MR. VADLJA:  Once again, I'll refer to the map K1.1.  I think what was being contemplated in the AECOM evidence was a route that ran south along Highway 4, Richmond Street, through the Town of Arva, and then at a point where it hits Sunningdale Road West to run west along Sunningdale to Wonderland Road, and then south to Fanshawe Park Road.


The difficulty with that is, as Mr. Neals had mentioned earlier, the disruption of running through Arva, as well as the deep channel and creek and construction through that, Medway Creek would be difficult.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And then there was the mention of Nine Mile Road to be used as a route alternative?


MR. VADLJA:  That route is a possibility.  However, it was discounted because, as Mr. Neals had mentioned earlier, the intention there was to try to identify a route alternative that ran as far south along Highway 4 as possible, but not down to intersecting is either Medway creek or the Town of Arva.  And by doing so, then, we felt that Eight Mile Road was a preference.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  What about an existing water pipeline easement?  Again, if you can refer to the map to indicate to the Board where that easement is.


MR. VADLJA:  Sure.  If you refer to the map, there is a -- you can actually see the easement.  If I could take you to the far left side of the map, you'll see the word "flood drain" and you can see the easement cuts through the wood lot there and you can see it run along agricultural land.


It crosses Wonderland Road and Eight Mile Road, Medway Road.  You can pick up the faint line of the easement.


From our perspective, that's not a good option at all.  For one thing, it doesn't run towards our required end point.  And, secondly, it is a cross-country route with resulting impacts to wood lots, agricultural land, et cetera, that we'd rather not do.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Comment 5 refers to the timing of the consultation process.  Can you comment on that?


MR. NEALS:  The consultation process started in October in sending out letters to all the agencies.  And our assessment was based on the response that we got back from that consultation process.  In the letter that went out to the agencies and the municipalities and the public, as well, we stated in that letter that we were looking at a preferred option of coming down Wonderland Road.  So that was identified at the outset.


And, as I said, at the time our report was completed and submitted in December, we had no significant opposition to the use of Wonderland Road.  The concerns that were raised were something that were quite mitigable through construction practices or the design of the pipeline.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Now, comment 7, we can tie in some concerns about reconstruction and the future widening of the right of way.


How real was this future widening made apparent to Union by the county?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Through just regular conversations with Jerry -- I'm not sure on the pronunciation of his last name, Rychlo.  Who is the road superintendent with the county.


Chantal Smith, our district engineer, met him on-site to come up with a proposed running line, and at the time we were made -- that was back in October of last year.  We were made aware of the concerns the county had with regards to road widening.


We work very closely, as I mentioned earlier, with the counties and municipalities within our franchise areas to make sure that, again, we mitigate any impacts.  My department is already structured in a way that we work with the counties and municipalities, and if they're able to provide us with information in advance, years in advance, around their construction projects, their infrastructure projects, we're able to work those in to our own plans, as well, and we work with them to relocate pipelines where needed and where there's clear conflicts.


So the -- our whole department is really designed around working with the municipalities and the counties to address these concerns.


MS. ANNIS:  So you didn't see any preliminary designs?  You haven't been presented with those designs yet?  Is that --


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  No.  Within my group, I have two project managers.


Taylor Jones is a project manager that works directly with the County of Middlesex, and there has been nothing presented to us to this point in time prior to filing with the OEB with regards to this, and last October when we met with Jerry.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So the jurisdiction of Wonderland Road, you can see on the map we've got municipality of Middlesex Centre and then the city of London.


So you're crossing kind of two jurisdictions there.


Did the city of London talk to you about possible road widening or reconstruction of Wonderland Road and when that may take place?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  The city of London, actually, there's a lot of activity, as I mentioned earlier.  Just north of Fanshawe road, there was a lot of development going on there right now.  There's a new development going on just west of Wonderland Road all the way up Sunningdale Road.  So their proposal is to within the next couple of years do some work through, just north of Fanshawe to Sunningdale Road.


We've been able to worth with landowners there, get easements and basically get a running line that is preferable to the city of London from Fanshawe up to Sunningdale Road.


There is a golf course, as you can see there on Exhibit K1.1.  The golf course, Sunningdale Golf Course, actually owns that land right out to Wonderland Road, and we were not able to come up with an agreement with them with regards to the cost of that easement.


So the city of London was actually in agreement to actually proceed, and basically withdraw their intervenor status based on the fact that we have been able to obtain the three easements up to Sunningdale Road, and then that one north of Sunningdale Road, we were not able to, but it's their expectations, through the discussion with John Lucas with the city of London, that they don't have any intentions of doing roadwork north of Sunningdale for at least the next 10 years.


MS. ANNIS:  At least the next 10 years.


So it wouldn't really makes sense, then, to do road widening from, I guess, north of Sunningdale.  I mean, I guess my question there is:  Would the county have to work with the city in terms of road widening?  Is that a fair assumption or...


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I believe that they would have to.


MS. ANNIS:  Yeah.  Okay.  And finally, I think there is, in terms of relocation, in the event that a pipe has to be relocated under -- let's say, for example, that the pipe does get built along Wonderland Road, and then at a future date, the pipe has to be relocated.


Does Union have a franchise agreement with the county?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  We have a franchise agreement that clearly lays out the costs that -- sharing of costs, as well as the ability to actually install the pipeline within road allowance.  So again, we work very closely with the municipalities to address those.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Thanks.


And those are my questions for the panel.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Annis.


Mr. Millar, when were you planning on posing any questions?  Do you want to wait until after Mr. Judson?


MR. MILLAR:  I have a few questions, Mr. Quesnelle.  I'm in your hands.  I can go now or I can go after Mr. Judson.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Why don't we have your questions asked first, Mr. Millar, if that --


MR. MILLAR:  I'd better find them, then.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  I'd like to follow up on a couple of things.  Maybe I'll start with the routing of the project, because that's one of the last things we were discussing.


And maybe the easiest place to get a handle on this is Exhibit K1.1.


You discussed certain easements with private landowners you received north of Fanshawe and south of Sunningdale; is that correct?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  There was three easements we were able to obtain options on just south of Sunningdale.  Two of those are residential -- sorry, one is a residential property, 2096 Wonderland Road; the other one is actually Car Star Auto Body, and the other one was Bell Canada, which is located just south of our proposed new station location.


MR. MILLAR:  When we look at the map -- and, sorry, so do you have private easements for all of the route between Sunningdale and Fanshawe?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Between -- yes, we do.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And these are referenced in your letter of April 15th to the Board, as well?  Are we talking about the same easements there?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yeah, sorry, let me clarify.


The city has actually been able to obtain lands, with the exception of those three properties I just mentioned.  So we were able to obtain options on those three properties only.  So other than that, we would be within the city property, and then we're going to be obtaining three easements between Fanshawe and Sunningdale.


MR. MILLAR:  So has this or will this lead to a change in the actual route that you're going to follow?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  The -- no, it won't.  No.


MR. MILLAR:  And forgive me if I'm being dense.


You've obtained easements that are off the road allowance, obviously.  Are you not putting the pipeline under those easements?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Yes.  So originally we had proposed to put the pipeline on the east side of Wonderland Road.  But we would have been running a direct line from the station inlet north to Sunningdale Road, which would have been just, I guess, outside of those easements that we were able to obtain.  Subsequently, after our discussions with Mr. Lucas from the city of London, we were able to obtain those three easements.  We have now pushed that line back about seven to eight metres towards the properties.  Sorry, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So that line is still along Wonderland Road, but it has moved.  Is it to the east or to the west?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  To the east.


MR. MILLAR:  To the east?


Is there a map that shows exactly where the pipeline will be, at that level of granularity?  I know there's schedule A filed with the application, but I don't think that that's any -- in fact, that's probably less detailed than the map we have at K1.1.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  We don't have a final proposed map for that particular location.  We were just able to obtain those easements now, based on the running line that, in our discussions with Mr. Lucas, that was the proposed new running line.


So based on those discussions and the outcome of today, we would actually be finalizing our running line, hopefully to select that running line.


MS. ANNIS:  I think what Mr. Millar is trying to get at is -- and perhaps this is just from a legal perspective -- the corridor for the route has not changed, and under the application none of that has changed.


There is some movement within that corridor, but none of the -- there's been no change in the application.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  Is it possible to provide, by way of undertaking, a map that actually shows, as opposed to, strictly speaking, the corridor -- I think it would be of some interest to see exactly where the line is proposed to go.


Would that be something that would be difficult to provide?


MS. ANNIS:  I don't think that they can provide that until the running line has been agreed upon.  So I think -- and that's part of the ongoing discussion that happens, and that's part of the final design.


That's the only reason that you haven't seen that level of granularity up to this point.


MR. MILLAR:  And that would be filed, presumably -- again, I don't want to get ahead of ourselves, but we have a standard list of conditions that usually accompany a leave-to-construct.


That's one of the conditions, I understand?


MS. ANNIS:  Right.


MR. MILLAR:  And I assume Union is -- without having put this to your witness yet -- would be content with the normal set of conditions that accompanies a leave-to-construct?


MS. ANNIS:  Absolutely.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Millar, just before you leave that area --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Beauchamp, you mentioned that the city of London was able to obtain lands in addition to the voluntary easements that you were able to obtain south of Sunningdale.


What was the procedure or method in which they obtained these lands?  Was it straight purchase or was this -- how did they go about that?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I'm not aware of how they went about that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Was it for the purpose of this line that they --


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  No.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It was not; okay.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  It was basically for the development north of Fanshawe.  There's a lot of development going on north, and their intentions is to, right at the Sunningdale -- intersection of Sunningdale and Wonderland Road, they want to put what they call a turnabout there.  So it would be a four-lane highway coming up to that turnabout, and that's where -- just a traffic calming circle is what they would be putting there.


They were working towards that, my understanding, in speaking with Mr. Lucas.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So for those purposes of -- the future development of the road and what needed to be accommodated for traffic purposes is what they're acting on now through different development proceedings and what have you?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That is correct.  It's my understanding just west of -- just west of Sunningdale, they're currently working with developers now to obtain those lands, as well.


MR. JUDSON:  I think, Mr. Chair, if I can assist, that the dedications that we're speaking of the city already has were part of the conditions of development for the developers south of Sunningdale.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Judson.


MR. MILLAR:  And just one final question on this.  If I look -- I think there's a scale on the map for K1.1.  Fanshawe to Sunningdale, is that something like 750 metres, maybe a kilometre?  Again, subject to check, and, approximately, that would be about the length of pipe we're talking about there?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Some questions with

respect -- just some follow-up questions with respect to the need for this project and the pressure difficulties you've been having in northwest London.


I heard you say that you were in danger of losing some customers.  First, could you clarify what you mean by lose a customer?  Does that mean there would be a particular day where you cannot service them with natural gas?


MR. FISHER:  Yes.  So our hydraulic model sort of is based on our design day temperature of minus 26 degrees Celsius.  And if we were to approach that temperature, we would not have sufficient pressure for people's equipment to operation under that condition.


MR. MILLAR:  And what would that mean to a residential customer?  Their furnace wouldn't operate, for example?


MR. FISHER:  Their furnace wouldn't operate, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Perhaps it was you, Mr. Fisher, but maybe it was someone else, also indicated that I guess in a worst-case scenario - though I'm not sure you used that word - you might be in danger of not being able to service 14,000 customers.  Did I hear that correctly?


MR. FISHER:  Yes, if we were to reach our design day temperature.


MR. MILLAR:  Minus 26?


MR. FISHER:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Which is 54 degree days?


MR. FISHER:  44 degree day, yes.  That would be the potential ultimate loss.  Maybe we may not lose quite that many.  It's hard to predict an exact number, but that's what our hydraulic model shows would be out of gas in that situation.


MR. MILLAR:  Surely there would have been days -- maybe there were, but were there days last winter where it got to minus 26?


MR. FISHER:  No.  Actually, we only approached about 75 percent of our design day temperature last winter.


MR. MILLAR:  And did you lose any customers last winter?


MR. FISHER:  No, we didn't lose any customers, but our field charts actually show we did approach our system minimums.  We were getting down to 140 kPa minimum delivery.  We didn't lose anybody, but we were showing low pressures in the field.


MR. MILLAR:  And I understand -- you show in schedule 3 that there's going to be quite a few -- you're predicting quite a few customer additions over the next few years, 18,000 by 2017, I believe.  But it seems to me, even absent this growth, if you are at risk of losing up to 14,000 customers, this is an issue irrespective of customer growth.  Is that not fair?


MR. FISHER:  No, it's part -- it's...


MR. MILLAR:  Well, if you're at risk this winter of losing 14,000 customers, you don't get to 14,000 additions.


MR. FISHER:  Oh, sorry.  Yes, we're at risk of possibly using the existing customers that are there.  That is correct, because as new customers come on and start taking gas, that whole 420 kPa system, the pressures get pulled down in that whole system.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.


MR. FISHER:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  There was some discussion with Ms. Annis about your franchise agreement with the County of Middlesex.  You recall that?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And there are some provisions in that agreement relating to cost sharing if a line has to be moved?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Right.


MR. MILLAR:  I've actually got copies of that agreement which I'd like to go through, if you don't mind, and we would enter them as an exhibit.  This would be Exhibit K1.2.  It is the decision and order -- in fact, it's the Union franchise agreement with the County of Middlesex, including the decision and order that gave effect to that.  And I'll bring some copies up for the panel and for the witnesses and some others as well.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  UNION FRANCHISE AGREEMENT WITH THE COUNTY OF MIDDLESEX, INCLUDING THE DECISION AND ORDER.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  As this is being distributed, perhaps you could confirm for me that your franchise agreement with Middlesex is in fact the model franchise agreement; in other words, essentially the same agreement that's approved for virtually all franchise areas.  Is that correct?


MR. FISHER:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And maybe --


MS. ANNIS:  Mr. Millar, sorry, just to interject, the panel that we have up there is mostly a technical panel.  And I would -- just a note for our witnesses.  If you do not know the answer, don't be embarrassed to say so.  That's absolutely fine.


MR. MILLAR:  That's fair enough.  I'll try the questions and we'll see where we get.


And maybe I'll attempt to assist you.  You discussed the cost-sharing responsibilities where there is a pipeline relocation.  My understanding is that that's covered in section 12 of the franchise agreement, is that -- not... Yes, of the franchise agreement.  Is that your understanding?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, it would appear that way.  Yes, section 12D.


MR. MILLAR:  And, again, if we get into too much detail, you can tell me and we may have to take an undertaking.


My understanding is that this situation is covered by 12D, and this discusses the costs of a -- where there's a relocation because of a highway or municipal works.  I believe the split is 65 percent is paid by the gas company and 35 percent by the municipality.  Is that your understanding?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That is my understanding.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And can you confirm that, or do you need to take an undertaking to confirm that that would be the cost-sharing arrangement?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yeah, that is my understanding of the cost-sharing arrangement.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  And I guess we can ask this of the municipality when they're up, but have you had any discussions -- obviously one of the concerns here is a future road widening.


Have you discussed with them the fact that to the extent a road widening has -- Union Gas will be on the hook for about 65 percent of the costs?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I don't recall a direct conversation about that, no.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  As I looked at the actual cost of this pipeline, is it fair to say that most of the costs are labour?  Without having in front of me, I think something like $350,000 is for materials, which would be the --


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That would be correct.


MR. MILLAR:  -- capital, and most of the rest is labour?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So if you have to move the pipeline -- let's imagine you have to move it in five years.  You would keep the existing pipe?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Typically what we would do there is we would install new pipe.


MR. MILLAR:  So --


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  So -- I'm sorry.  So if we had to relocate the pipe underneath the drainage, just a small section, we would typically cut that section out and install new pipe.


MR. MILLAR:  Let's imagine that the municipality does wish to widen the road.  Let's say it happens in five years' time.


So what you're saying is you would not move the existing pipe.  You would lay down new pipe; is that correct?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yeah.  I believe that would be correct, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Would you even to bother to dig up the old pipe?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you wouldn't get any salvage value for that?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Basically, the tie-in locations, we would actually dig that section up, and then run new pipe.


MR. MILLAR:  So you would essentially re-incur the entire cost that you're looking to incur now, more or less?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Potentially, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I guess it would be a slightly -- not slightly, but something like a quarter or a fifth of the line is this path of the section we discussed south of Sunningdale.  So the presumption is you wouldn't have to replace that if there was a road widening?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  But, regardless, we'd still be talking close to the same numbers we're talking now, a little bit less?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  When you ran your cost-benefit analysis calculations, again, without having the numbers in front of me, they had fairly strong -- is it PI?  I forget what it's called, but it's something like 1.23, 1.3, 1.4?


MR. FISHER:  Oh, the probability index?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Do you happen to now know how those calculations would work out?  Let me put it another way.  Did you run the calculations on the assumption that you would have to move the allowance -- pardon me, move the pipeline in four or five years?


MR. FISHER:  No, the calculations were just done based on the new facilities.


MR. MILLAR:  Is it -- how difficult would it be to run them as a theoretical again, assuming that the line had to be moved?


MR. FISHER:  I don't think I'd be able to answer that.  That would have to go to our accounting people, and they're not here.  It usually takes a few days to get answers back from them when we send it, so I'm not quite sure how long they could do it on short notice.


MR. MILLAR:  Would it be fair to say the PI would go negative if you had to move the line in five years?  Or can you answer that?


MR. FISHER:  There would be quite a number of variables.  We'd have to get a specific cost on how much we were locating and what the costs would be, and a specific year to put in the relocation.


It would probably be quite a -- I assume you're adding costs.  It would drop a little bit.  Whether or not it would approach one, it would be impossible for me to make a guess at that point.


MR. MILLAR:  Let me put a theoretical to you.


Subject to what Mr. Quesnelle and whatever Ms. Annis may have to say, I'm going to seek an undertaking on this.  If it's not helpful to the Board, they can let me know.


But some assumptions I'd like to know for a PI calculation would be, assuming the pipeline had to be moved in, say, five years, and let's assume the costs are 80 percent of the current costs, to take into account that a portion of it wouldn't be moved, would you be able to run at least a high-level PI using those assumptions?


MS. ANNIS:  Right.  I actually am going to object to that undertaking, because I don't think it meets the purposes of the -- of what we're here for at the hearing.


The need is for a November 2011 construction timeframe.  And we've established that there are customers that could not have gas.  So I think the future, the five-year future relocation is not as -- it's probably an issue that could be examined at a later date.  But I think for the purposes, what we are really here to is to get gas to customers by November 2011, and I think that timeframe is critical.


And that's why we're here, is to service those customers within that timeframe.  So the interim, the five years you're talking about, five years where customers potentially would not have service, and I think -- I don't think that is a -- I don't think that is contemplated as a possibility.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, I'm in your hands.  I guess there's two prongs here.  One is certainly need, and indeed, if there is need for a project, I don't believe it has to pass the PI, so if we accept that argument, then that's fine.


The PI is discussed in the evidence, and it strikes me it might be interesting to know what would happen if you had to dig it all up -- or not even dig it up.  If you had to move it again in five years.


But I am in your hands.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.


Mr. Judson, I see you --


MR. JUDSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Clearly, in the county's view the question of need is not yet established.  That remains for your decision, and we look forward to cross-examining these witnesses on that.


But putting that aside for the moment, the impact on the county is significant, and on Union Gas is significant, if, indeed, that timeline -- Mr. Millar's talking about five years.  The evidence may be much shorter than that, when you hear it from the county.


And it seems self-evident, based on the submissions by Union Gas in the original proposal, that the economic feasibility was a significant issue too, in judging how they would resolve the potential loss of service to some customers.


So yes, if we're talking about a cost-sharing that impacts the probability index by bringing it close to one, if not negative, that's one issue.


It's going to be the county's position, just to give a heads-up to the witnesses, that if Union Gas is determined to proceed on a short turnaround, as they've said, that we would be asking the Board to provide for 100 percent indemnification upon moving.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood, Mr. Judson.


I think the whole motion about having a profitability index in the first place is to determine on a project-by-project basis, first of all, as to whether or not a project meets the profitability.


But we also have the concept of a total portfolio, and -- if I'm correct, in looking at the array of projects and whether or not on a portfolio basis -- so not every project need meet one, if my understanding is correct, and I believe it is.


So we may find that this particular project, based on -- it would have to be on the perspective of the connections, meets the projected profitability index, and to the extent that it is always of interest to the Board, because we do not expect the Union Gas or other service providers to provide service at any cost.


Now, this is a scenario where the need is only determined if future development does occur.  And that's why we do the profitability index, to determine whether or not it is economically feasible to allow for this additional service.


There's a bit of a grey area here, though, in that we've got -- the city has entered into development agreements with the expectation that gas would be there, because gas is within the area and services are typically expanded from existing areas.


This isn't a greenfield per se, in that there is service within the area.


The loss of 14,000 customers would only occur, from my understanding, if these developments take place.  Therefore a profitability index is required, but I do not believe that if the -- perhaps if Union could provide what percentage of this, of their total portfolio of projects that were put forward is this -- and any capital plan would this represent, this expansion represent.


And that goes the understanding -- and perhaps the Board's Staff can assist on this -- that the Board looks at a portfolio of projects in any capital plan and determines that as long as, on a portfolio basis, you exceed profitability of one, then all projects are acceptable if there is -- it's in the public service to allow for these projects.


So having said that, even if the Board -- if it were determined that this particular project, based on the growth analysis and projections, came in at less than a percentage of one or profitability index of one, that would not necessarily be determinative of whether or not the Board found this project to be in the public interest, if you look at it in aggregate with all other projects and the need for this.


So I do not think the Board would be assisted in this particular interest with this information.  And hearing what you're saying, Mr. Judson, I think that's a slightly different matter, is the timing and what have you.


But given the Board's approach to the profitability index and how it treats that and looks at many projects in a portfolio basis, I don't think we'd be assisted in looking at re-running these numbers, because to do so, I think we'd then be questioning the -- and getting into a lot of detail as to whether or not -- how much we can rely on the projections, and getting into the developments that have been approved by the city, which ones are likely to go, because approval of a development and having a development actually take place are two different things.


So on balance, I don't think the Board would be assisted, necessarily, by having this undertaking provided.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Quesnelle.  I think I'm done, if you just give me one moment to review my notes.


Just one final area.  You discussed some of the challenges of going down Highway 4; do you recall that?


MR. VADLJA:  Yes, I recall that.


MR. MILLAR:  And I understand -- correct me if I am wrong -- that the two main challenges was going under Medway Creek.  I guess that's a deeper watercourse there than it is on Wonderland Road; is that correct?


MR. VADLJA:  Yes, that's correct.  It's quite incised along Highway 4.


MR. MILLAR:  And then the second challenge was the -- I'm not sure if it's a town or the community of Arva is, I guess, fairly built up in that area and abutting against the road.  Is that the other challenge?


MR. VADLJA:  Correct.  I mean, there are commercial- residential buildings right up against the road; correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And of course all those things are fixable, I suppose, at a cost, but you had a look at that and determined that the cost would be much more prohibitive to go that way than to just go straight down Wonderland?  Is that the long and the short of it?


MR. VADLJA:  For sure there's a cost, but as well as a disruption to the community, and both of those were taken into consideration.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Did you consider whether it would be less expensive to take the Highway 4 route than to go down Wonderland, but perhaps have to move it in a couple of years?  Was that part of the analysis you did in rejecting the Highway 4 route?


MR. NEALS:  When we looked at the -- the primary reason we rejected Highway 4 was just the complexity of development along it, and it was -- when you compared it to Wonderland Road, it was significantly different with regards to difficulty for construction.


We didn't factor in, as far as our work goes, the cost of relocating the pipeline primarily because, in discussions with Union Gas engineers, they felt that in working with the county they could mitigate that by where they placed the pipeline relative to what road works might come down the road.


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, when you say "mitigate", are you discussing the Wonderland route or the --


MR. NEALS:  The Wonderland route.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Yes.  Thank you, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  It's 5 to 11:00 now.  Mr. Judson, perhaps before we even start, I expect that you would be a reasonable length of time,

but --


MR. JUDSON:  No, that's fine, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  From that, we'll take a 15-minute break, and then we'll come back and start with your cross.  So we'll break until 10 after 11:00.


--- Recess taken at 10:57 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:16 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Okay.  Unless anything came at the break that we need to deal with, I believe, Mr. Judson, if...


MR. JUDSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And your microphone, if it's not on yet, Mr. Judson.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Judson:


MR. JUDSON:  If I do not address the right person, please -- on the panel, please jump in.  I believe I have got a handle on who everybody is and where the answers might be available, but if I make an error in that, you'll correct me.


Mr. Beauchamp, you talked about the need for the line and the reinforcement being now, and that has been emphasized over and over and over again.


When did Union Gas identify the fact that the current owners of properties in the northwest served by Union Gas were at risk of losing service in 2011, 2012?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  We do assess our need on an annual basis.  Maybe I'll let Dale answer in terms of the studies they do.


MR. JUDSON:  No, it's a simple question.


When did you flag the fact that you better get going on reinforcing the gas delivery to that area?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  The first time that we actually put that forward to our executive for reinforcement was approximately two years ago, based on need.


MR. JUDSON:  And presumably it was before two years ago that you identified the problem, because otherwise you wouldn't have put it to your executive; fair?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, that's fair.


MR. JUDSON:  All right.  And just so I am clear about that, what we're talking about is a potential loss of service to existing customers in that equation; correct?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JUDSON:  All right.  And that is, I presume, exacerbated by the planned growth in the northwest area of the city of London?  Something like 17,000 new users by some number that I've lost, but is that a fair additional number?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yeah.  The forecast would be approximately around 18- to 20,000 new customers in the next 10 years.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, as far as I am aware, the planned growth for this area and the approvals for that have been in place for at least two or three years; would you agree with me about that?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I'm not certain when the --


MS. ANNIS:  Sorry, just to interject, are you talking about plans that the city of London would have tabled or...


MR. JUDSON:  Well, if the witness doesn't understand it, I'm glad to clarify.


Would you agree with me that the growth planned for this northwest area of the city has been known in the planning documents of the city of London for at least two or three years?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.


MR. JUDSON:  Thank you.


And so at what point does Union Gas say to itself:  We have to do something, not just in the short run, but we have to do something in the longer run, to be ready to serve these customers?


The question I'm putting to you is that I find it difficult to understand that it would be two years ago that you would recommend to your executive trying to service the existing customers, and as yet we have heard nothing about the recommendation for the additional 20,000.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Sorry, I'm not clear what your question is.


MR. JUDSON:  Well, I guess I'm trying to figure out why the short timeline.  What suddenly happened here?  Oops, we're going to run out of gas.


That's the way I'm hearing you describe this, so that we're now in a position where my client finds out in the fall of 2010, having assumed jurisdiction over a road in July, having commenced pre-engineering for road widening -- and you'll hear that -- right away, suddenly hears:  Oh, where we want to put this pipe in the ground down your road allowance, which we admit is singularly deficient, next summer.


I mean, why do we find out so late?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  We basically forecast our projects based on need, and we spend our money for those projects based on need as well.


So we have extended the need for this project as long as we could, before actually installing this pipeline.  And as we identified earlier, it's critical that this pipeline goes in this year.


MR. JUDSON:  Well, I can understand that it's nice to not have to spend the money until the car has broken down, but you would agree with me that the potential additional cost to my client as part of its planned rebuild of Wonderland Road, at the very least, has just been bumped by 35 percent of $2 million; that's fair, isn't it?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Phrase that as a question, Mr. Judson.


MR. JUDSON:  Am I right in saying that this short -- this waiting, if you will, to do this, to tell the stakeholders about this project means that my client now is facing a potential additional cost to its own work, through no fault of its own, of 7- or $800,000.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That is assuming that the complete pipeline would need to be relocated, which we would not assume in this case, based on our relationship and work with the municipalities to select a running line to prevent future conflict.


MR. JUDSON:  Well, yes, but -- I understand that you and your colleague, Mr. Beauchamp, and others have commented a number of times about how you want to work together; and yet you're going to strive to build this beginning in June; correct?  Yes?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  July.


MR. JUDSON:  July.  And you will hear from Mr. Traini that the pre-engineering for this road will not be available at that point.


And so are you telling me that you're going to be able to work outside the 20-metre road allowance that exists there now?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  No.


MR. JUDSON:  No.  And so the effect of this is by rushing to put this in with something like eight months' notice to the county at max -- you agree with me on that?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I'm not certain in terms of when we communicated that with the county exactly.


MR. JUDSON:  Well, my understanding is it's the first letter in October of 2010.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  The first communication was with Taylor Jones in September 2010, yes, with the county.


MR. JUDSON:  And Taylor Jones spoke with?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Jerry.


MR. JUDSON:  Jerry.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yeah, the county road super.


MR. JUDSON:  Just so we're clear, you spoke of it being on an agenda on September the 15th, I believe, last year.  That was a City Council agenda, was it not?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  We were on that agenda, yes.


MR. JUDSON:  We were not on the county agenda?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  No, sorry.  We spoke directly with Jerry in September of last year.


MR. JUDSON:  And the first formal contact or notice to the municipality, you would agree with me, was in October when a letter went to Mr. Traini; is that correct?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, that's my understanding.


MR. JUDSON:  And that's the letter from Azimuth?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Correct.


MR. JUDSON:  Right.  Is it not normal for Union Gas in its working, as you say, with the municipalities to contact municipalities at a reasonably senior engineering level to give them heads-up as to what's being planned?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  As I mentioned earlier, we do work with municipalities and the counties to talk about that specifically, future road construction and projects.


MR. JUDSON:  And apart from the discussions that you had with the road superintendent, as far as I can see Union Gas never had any discussions directly until after the application was filed with this Board; is that correct?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yeah.  The first time we've had the conversation -- the documented information I have, the conversation with the county was in September with Jerry.


MR. JUDSON:  Yes, with the road superintendent?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Right.


MR. JUDSON:  And was there a follow-up, Dear Jerry, I'd like to confirm our discussion?  Because I can tell you the county has no record of this.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I can't confirm that, no.


MR. JUDSON:  But apart from that discussion, am I right, then, as saying, prior to the filing of this application, Union Gas had no direct contact with the County of Middlesex about this project?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I'm not aware of anything beyond September.


MR. JUDSON:  And yet you and Mr. Beauchamp and others have -- including your counsel, have stressed that this need is so self-evident that there will be a critical -- potentially a critical loss to existing customers, and I'm trying to understand that, if you could help me.


You're Mr. Beauchamp, I apologize, and that's Mr. Fisher.  Right.  I got you mixed up.  Can you help me on that, Mr. Beauchamp or Mr. Fisher?


MS. ANNIS:  Can you frame a question, please, Mr. Judson?


MR. JUDSON:  I'm trying to understand how this can be so urgent, and yet you never talked to my client until you file an application.  That doesn't make sense to me.  Can you help me?


MS. ANNIS:  Please ask a direct question.


MR. JUDSON:  That is a direct question.  It's called cross-examination.  Can you help me understand this disconnect between --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is there anything unusual that Union did in this case as compared to how it would typically communicate with municipalities in the running up to a recognition of a project need?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  No, I don't believe so.


MR. FISHER:  No.  I would elaborate, as well, I think this is fairly standard where, you know, we're reviewing internally and looking at the customer attachments and verifying our models and determining the need.  And when we decide, yes, this is the time we need to build it, then we would proceed with the application and the notifications roughly in the time frames that Don had talked about.  I think that is pretty standard.


MR. JUDSON:  When was the go-ahead given by your executive to build this reinforcement?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That would have been at the budget review in 2010, and I believe that was in the July time frame.


MR. JUDSON:  You went to your executive with this need in 2009, as I understood your evidence?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That's correct.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, all of the material that's been filed with the Board appears to make it clear that this is not to service any consumer in the County of Middlesex; is that fair?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  No.  We will be servicing customers along Wonderland Road.


MR. JUDSON:  The reason for this application is not to service any customer, potential customer, in the county?  Your own material says that.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yeah, sorry.  Yes, it is to service the northwest line.


MR. JUDSON:  And it says that on a number of occasions, correct --


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.


MR. JUDSON:  -- in your materials?  And it also says that there is no intention to service any potential customer along the route, except that applications will be given to your customer service people if anybody's interested, gets referred; correct?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Correct.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, how many applications have you had for service along -- in the county along this line?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I'm not sure of the exact number.  What I'm aware of is currently I think there's about two that have applied.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, the constraints that you speak about for Highway 4, as I understand them, are primarily the Medway Creek and going through Arva; is that fair?


MR. VADLJA:  Yes, sir, that's fair.


MR. JUDSON:  Thank you.  Customarily, you do run gas pipelines across bridges; correct?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JUDSON:  And the Medway Creek has a bridge?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That's correct.


MR. JUDSON:  And I take it that there's no impediment to using that form of construction for the Medway Creek?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Not that I'm aware of, no.


MR. JUDSON:  And Arva, the Community of Arva, has a significant road allowance.  The road allowance here is a provincial highway road allowance, is it not?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  It's Highway 4.


MR. JUDSON:  Yeah.  And so that would be a 36-metre road allowance?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I don't know that.  I can assume it's 36.


MR. JUDSON:  Well, presumably, if you had a problem with Arva, somebody must have said, We don't have enough room in the road allowance, because you talked about commercial enterprises up next.


MR. VADLJA I don't believe anybody said that we don't have enough room.  I think what we said is there would be disruption to the Town of Arva.  Some of those residences and commercial establishments in Arva are quite close to the road, I would venture a guess somewhere in the order of 10 to 15 metres away from the edge of the road.


So there would be some disruption to the community and we were trying to avoid that by going down Wonderland Road.


MR. JUDSON:  So that we can be clear, though, when you say that close to the road, you're talking about to the road allowance.  They're not built on the road allowance?


MR. VADLJA:  No, you're correct, they're not built on the road allowance.  I'm saying some of those commercial/residential buildings are quite close to the road allowance limit.


MR. JUDSON:  And do you agree with me that the road allowance is 36 metres?


MR. VADLJA:  I don't know how wide that road allowance is, sorry.


MR. JUDSON:  Wouldn't that be a relevant consideration to know how much space you've got between the travelled portion of the road and the commercial enterprises?


MR. VADLJA:  Oh, it would be one consideration, but I think, you know, an important consideration as well would be just the general disruption to that community.


MR. JUDSON:  Are you aware - when I say "you" I'm glad to hear from anybody - that there is a complete discontinuity in the road allowance for Wonderland Road?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, I believe there is, just south of Ten Mile Road.


MR. JUDSON:  Well, if there's one there, that's in addition to the one I'm going to refer you to.  This will be, subject to proof from Mr. Traini, the engineer...


[Mr. Judson hands out a document]


And Mr. Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  I'll give this an exhibit number.


MR. JUDSON:  Liked to make this an exhibit, subject to --


MR. QUESNELLE:  If you could hold your comments until you're at the microphone, Mr. Judson, just for the court reporter.


MR. JUDSON:  I'd like to make this an exhibit, subject to the proof from Mr. Traini, if necessary.


I think it would be Exhibit 1.3?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Mr. Chair, Exhibit K1.3.  And it is a map of a portion of Wonderland Road North.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  MAP OF A PORTION OF WONDERLAND ROAD NORTH.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, you will hear, gentlemen, that that is the existing road allowance for Wonderland Road between Nine Mile and Eight Mile Roads.


Were you aware of that prior to today?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.  There's -- when I mentioned just south of Ten Mile Road, there's another example of that just south of Ten Mile Road, so that road literally jogs out and does that at both ends.


MR. JUDSON:  And how do you proceed to acquire access to the road allowance in order to make it a continuous line down without getting easements in one place or another?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Where this actual jog in the road takes place, just south of that jog, that is one of the agricultural properties we have been able to obtain an easement with, the optional easement with.


MR. JUDSON:  And can you identify, is it -- which property is it?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Which?  I... I'd need time to see if I could find that.


MR. JUDSON:  Well, maybe you can undertake to provide it to us, the name, and identify -- and location of the property owner that you got the easement from?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I may have it right here.


MR. JUDSON:  Okay.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you have a property identification number, Mr. Beauchamp, as opposed to the individual?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I'm sorry, it would just be notes I have from...


MS. ANNIS:  Mr. Quesnelle, we can undertake to get that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  I recognize the Board has privacy concerns, and transcribed --


MR. QUESNELLE:  We'd just as soon have it as -- for your purposes, Mr. Judson, I believe that's --


MR. JUDSON:  No, that would be sufficient.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be sufficient?


MR. JUDSON:  So locate it.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just to provide location of the acquired rights, to indicate how you will overcome the discontinuity situation identified.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be Undertaking J1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO IDENTIFY LOCATION SOUTH OF TEN MILE ROAD WHERE OPTIONAL EASEMENT HAS BEEN OBTAINED.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, we've heard a considerable amount about the -- let me put this another way.


We've heard the word "alternatives" mentioned a number of times, but I cannot see anywhere in any of the material filed that any alternative other than Highway 4 was ever studied or assessed; am I right?


MR. NEALS:  When we initially looked at the area, the study area between the endpoints, the start point on Ten Mile Road and the endpoint at Fanshawe Park and Wonderland, we looked at all the roads with regards to whether they would be reasonable alternatives.


And it's my practice when I go through one of these studies to take forward alternatives which I think are reasonable and viable, having regard for the land use and environmental constraints within a study area, and what may be perceived by the public as a social issue, as well as by concerns of agencies.


In this situation, that's why, when you look at it, we only identified two alternatives, because we felt they were the most reasonable and viable alternatives, given the conditions in the study area.


MR. JUDSON:  And in order for the Board to assess the reasonableness of that position, where would the Board look?


MR. NEALS:  When we described the existing conditions as to what occurs in the study area --


MR. JUDSON:  No, no.  No, I'm sorry, sir.  You misunderstood my question.


I understand that the study area was only Highway 4 to Wonderland; correct?


MR. NEALS:  Mm-hmm.


MR. JUDSON:  But you say that there were other alternatives which you looked at and which you rejected, and therefore never included in the study area.


And I'm asking how it is -- how would a third party -- the Board or the County of Middlesex -- be able to assess the selection you made in rejecting other parts of or other areas to be studied.


MR. NEALS:  We didn't -- we did not, identify each potential route that you could put the pipeline on.  We identified those alternatives which we felt were reasonable.


I guess my intent in writing the report and in going through the existing conditions and discussing what was there, I felt it was intuitive in the information and in looking at the aerial photography, plus giving the routing criteria that we used, to identify or understand why we identified those two alternatives.


MR. JUDSON:  Mr. Beauchamp, are you the person best able in this panel to discuss what attempts, if any, have been made to obtain easements in order to provide for the width that would allow Union Gas to avoid having to move the line in the future?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I believe that the communication that was shared with me, based on the attempts, I can probably provide some information.


MR. JUDSON:  Do I understand that you didn't direct or have a direct hand in approaches to landowners, obviously?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I had made -- put forward the requests that our land agents approach landowners, yes.


MR. JUDSON:  And can you tell the Board how many approaches were made by your agents?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  There was a total of 15 landowners that we would have approached.  Those approaches, I can't - I don't know the exact number, how many times they made attempts with each landowner.  I can't answer that.


MR. JUDSON:  When you say there were 15, is that all that would have been required along this line?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yeah.  If I do remember properly, I think there was 12 within the county limit, and there was three within the city.


MR. JUDSON:  And do I understand, then, that two of those approaches were successful?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That's correct.


MR. JUDSON:  And one of them, you are going to take up the option?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  The one -- there was two.  So one was almost like a residential-sized lot, which we would not take up the option, and the other was the agricultural property.  Based on discussions with the county and looking at the running lines, we would base that on constructability, if it made sense for us to actually run our line outside, I guess, the proposed easement, I guess - within that proposed easement.


MR. JUDSON:  But I thought that you had -- that you were going to solve the discontinuity problem by taking up an option for an easement?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Oh, I'm sorry, yes, on that one little jog, we would do that.  So we would come off the road allowance and take that one small piece, but for the full extent of that easement.


MR. JUDSON:  Is that number three, or is that the rural version of two?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That's the agriculture version of two, yes.


MR. JUDSON:  Okay.  Now, you've made an offer, you say, to the county to install your pipeline deeper than would be normal in order to try to avoid the disruption of construction.  Did I understand you correctly?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.


MR. JUDSON:  Right.  And yet I thought you told the Chair that at the time the road was reconstructed, you would actually abandon the existing routing and build another pipeline parallel and off the built portion of the highway?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That would only be, if there was conflict, we would need to re-route the pipeline.


MR. JUDSON:  And what is "conflict"?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  The example I would give you is if there was a drainage tile that was installed that was actually in direct conflict with the pipeline, we would have worked with the county to relocate that portion of that facility which was in direct conflict.


MR. JUDSON:  Could you elaborate on that?  A drain of -- that isn't already there?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Potentially, in discussions with Mr. Traini, we had requested some engineering drawings with regards to what their proposed -- where their proposed facilities would be.  They didn't have that.


My understanding was that, at the time, there could be some drainage crossing Wonderland Road that could be in direct conflict with our proposed pipeline.  So that in those areas, if that was to occur, we would relocate that pipeline.


MR. JUDSON:  So if I understood your evidence to be that you would actually be relocating within the expanded road allowance, outside the built portion of the highway, I was misunderstanding you; correct?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  We would -- our pipeline would be installed within the road allowance, the current road allowance.  And if we had to relocate that pipeline, we could potentially be going to a greater depth if it had to go under or over a drainage tile that the county was installing.


MR. JUDSON:  Maybe I'm the only one that's confused, Mr. Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, perhaps, Mr. Beauchamp, I take it, then, that there would be -- your ability to relocate and where you would relocate would depend on what other utilities are within the road allowance, what corridors they occupy and what is required.


So only would you be going outside of the existing road allowance and require an expansion if there was no other choice to be made within the existing road allowance?  Like, what I took your earlier testimony to be, that it's not a given that relocation means into a widened road allowance.


That is, relocation in the franchise agreement envisions that relocations may occur within an existing road allowance, but still for construction purposes require a relocation; is that correct?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That's correct.


MR. JUDSON:  Thank you.  That helps, sir.


Those are the questions I have.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Judson.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I have a couple of questions, Ms. Annis.  I'll pose those now in case you want to cover them in re-direct.


MS. ANNIS:  Thanks.

Questions by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  And this is to anyone who feels most able to reply.


I just want to get a sense for the -- for one thing, I suppose is the -- you talked about the utility coordination committee meetings and the function when things first came up.  I believe you mentioned it was September -- or, sorry, October, it was on an agenda, but time didn't permit getting to it.


The county, do they have representation on that committee?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  So just for clarification, the time that we did not get to the agenda item was actually May 2010.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ah, sorry.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  And that was on the city of London's utility coordinating committee agenda.  I'm not aware of the county having anybody sit on that committee.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And is there any other form of communication that you're aware of, then, that would be a proxy for or serve the same purpose as the UCC meetings you had with the city of London?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, our construction project manager, as I mentioned earlier, Taylor Jones, they are given the mandate and are accountable for communicating with all the municipalities within their area of jurisdiction on an ongoing basis to find out what projects they have coming up, so that we can budget and forecast that work on an annual basis in advance.


We typically look for information such as that, you know, as much as they can possibly give us.  We do have forecasts for the city line, for example, that are ten years out.  Some of the smaller municipalities have difficulty providing us with that any more than a year out.


So we do continuously work with those individuals.  In this particular case here, Taylor would have communicated with the county shortly after we would have received approval from our executive to proceed with this project in 2011.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  So the -- part of the function of that role, then, is to gather information to provide Union Gas with better planning ability, I take it, then?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Correct.  Yes, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Is it also part of their role to reciprocate, on that and provide as early a warning to their municipalities within their responsible -- area of responsibility as to what may be coming, even in advance of a final executive approval?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, it is.  The example would be the situation where we were on the agenda in May of last year.  The project still was not approved; it was just more or less a heads-up that we were going to be requesting approval for that project.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And that was with the London UCC?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And you don't have any record of or knowledge of anything prior to -- last September was, I believe, the first time that the road superintendent of the county would have been notified?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  That's the only record I have, yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  To the extent that the city of London has approved developments within its -- the city boundaries for residential developments, and this is primarily the load that's coming on or projected to come on that is causing you concern.


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Mm-hmm.  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  To the extent that that development approval process -- is Union Gas in that loop in any fashion, as far as informing the city as to whether or not a development should be -- a development agreement should be entered into, as to limitations on its ability to supply services?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  We are involved -- our construction and growth representatives work with the municipalities to obtain that information.  In terms of having an agreement, with regards to growth and our ability to be able to supply, I am not aware of anything that we would actually communicate back to the city or the municipality to say that we're not able to supply based on the future demand.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Are you aware of -- and please, let me know if this is going beyond what your awareness -- I'm just asking:  Are you aware of anything within those development agreements that basically holds the city harmless or Union harmless if services cannot be supplied?


What's your expectation?  What do you believe that the expectation is of people that purchase properties when they look at those developments, as far as receiving your services?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  I believe the expectations of the people purchasing those properties would expect to have service within the city limits.  I'm not aware of any agreement that we have with the city, though, with regards to that, with servicing those properties -- sorry, those developments.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And I'm looking at this, and it's -- to the extent -- what I'm trying to separate out here is trying to get to the kernel of the problem that we have, which is -- I believe has been slightly, not misstated, but -- let me re-characterize it and ask for your opinion on that.


That this isn't a matter of being able to maintain service to existing customers as much as it is your ability to service new customers, and the service of the new customers is actually what puts your existing service in jeopardy; is that a fair characterization?


MR. FISHER:  Yeah, that's correct, because it's all an interconnected system.  New customers coming on would put themselves at risk, and the existing customers at risk, as well.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And the only, I suppose, review of whether or not that situation is palatable is -- to the expectations and to manage the expectations of the individuals looking for this service in the future, is the development agreements that the city actually holds the key to; am I understanding that?  Do you agree with that, that that's the point in time in which this expectation of service has been committed to by someone?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, I'm sorry.  So the developers will actually submit a request for service to their developments, and we would provide that information at the time, whether we could supply those developments with natural gas.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  So it's not something which is on the city's checklist per se, that this need be there, like it would be for water services or sewage or whatever; that's all within their own camp, obviously.


But for external services such as yours, the developer would then seek assurances from you that these services will be available to them when their plans come to fruition; is that correct?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Yes, that's correct.  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


To the extent that -- and I think a lot of this turns on the probability or the possibility of having do a relocation in future, have you -- have a sense of the type of construction that is likely to occur or request that you may have put upon you by the municipality to relocate, and your ability to be able to accommodate that, given the discussions to date, even though there isn't been a full design of the future road allowance?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  No, we haven't been able to even select a running line at this point in time, and we don't understand what the future construction holds for the county.


So you know, through our conversations late last fall in October, that was the intent, was to start working through some of those.


And really, we haven't been able to understand what their future construction plans are, and as a result, we don't really understand what we can do to assist in mitigating those in the future.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Understood.


Yeah, I think that's all I have at this time.


Ms. Annis, redirect?

Re-Examination by Ms. Annis:


MS. ANNIS:  I just have a couple questions.


So I guess following up on the Board's recent questioning, what evidence did the county give you that they will be conducting a road widening?  Have you had anything in writing?  Has there been any formal communication that there would be a road widening?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  Nothing other than the communication we received in September, or whenever Chantel met with Jerry out on-site, the construction superintendent for the county, and post the actual EA filing, and then we received the letter from Mr. Traini.


MS. ANNIS:  Now, there's a mention of attempting to get on the city's meeting in May of 2010.  There was some talk about a switch in jurisdiction of the road.


When did the county actually take jurisdiction of Wonderland Road?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  From my understanding, it was in June or July of 2010.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So is that the reason that the -- and there was still discussions with the county prior to that timeframe, but perhaps that's one of the reasons that the -- is that one of the reasons --


MR. JUDSON:  If counsel wouldn't lead.


MS. ANNIS:  Is that one of the reasons that you had the discussion on the May 2010 agenda?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  The reason why we had it on the May 2010 agenda was to make the municipality aware of this project, yes -- worry, was to make the city aware of the proposed project, yes.


MS. ANNIS:  That's fair.


And there's been talk about the future -- future customers affecting the system.  Did you experience low-pressure situations last year, or at any time previously?


MR. FISHER:  Yes.  Actually, last winter we saw pressures that approached our design minimum of 140 kPa.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.


MR. FISHER:  And some pressures in quite a large area, around the 200 kPa area, which -- and it wasn't really that cold of a day, so it was cause for concern, yeah.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So the issue is not only with future, but it's also existing customers.  Even if not all of those developments took place, there's still a risk that there would be low-pressure situations or...


MR. FISHER:  There would still be a risk if all those developments didn't take place.  We would need some developments for it to be a very significant risk, though, yes.


MS. ANNIS:  And in terms of -- in prioritizing projects, how does Union prioritize projects?


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  In terms of the growth projects, sorry?


MS. ANNIS:  Yeah.  Yeah, your...


MR. BEAUCHAMP:  So we work with the developer and the builders to find out where the new home construction is going to occur within those new developments.


We don't run any pipeline beyond where we need to go on an annual basis.  We work with them to understand where the construction -- the permits have been requested for construction.  And we will run our pipelines, our distribution pipelines, up to those locations to serve those needs.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  No, I think those are my -- that's my re-direct.

Procedural Matters:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, thank you.  Why don't we take a -- this seems like a natural point to take a lunch break.  Why don't we take an hour, and then, Mr. Judson, you'll be offering up a panel for after lunch?


MR. JUDSON:  Yes.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Anything else, Ms. Annis?


MS. ANNIS:  Yeah.  If Mr. Judson can give an idea as to how long his direct is going to be, because given the new evidence, if we wanted to take a break to kind of re-examine our cross on that, perhaps the more -- just in terms of keeping the proceedings going.  But I'm totally fine with the proposed schedule, as well.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Mr. Judson, do you have an idea of your direct?


MR. JUDSON:  My intent is to let -- subject to qualifying Mr. Fediw and giving some preliminary evidence about how he came to this particular retainer and project, my intention is to let the report speak for itself, because, in my long experience doing this, it doesn't help to spend time going through a written report when it's available to everyone to read and is there as an exhibit.


So most of my questions to the panel of two will be -- the substance will be to Mr. Traini.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think what the Board will allow

is -- well, as we get there, we'll determine what's most convenient and also expedient, I suppose, is, Ms. Annis, if you're getting into your cross, once you've heard the direct, and feel that you need time to retreat and take assessment of that, I think the Board would allow that this afternoon.


And we would like to finish this afternoon, but obviously we'll take a recess if you request it.  I think that's a fair way to respond to the late filing of this.  And if that works for all the parties, I think that's what the Board will intend to do.


Okay.  So we'll reconvene at 10 after 1:00, then.  Thank you.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:08 p.m.


--- On resuming at 1:16 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.

Just working on some technical difficulties here.

Unless there's any preliminary matters, Mr. Judson, you have a witness panel up.

MR. JUDSON:  Yes.  Thank you.

The two members of the panel are, on our right, Antony Fediw, F-E-D-I-W, and on the left, Christopher Traini.

I'm going to be qualifying Mr. Fediw to give opinion evidence.

I will file with your permission, sir, the CV of Mr. Traini, just so that there is a context to his position with the County of Middlesex.

Mr. Chair, do they need to be sworn?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I'll take care of that, Mr. Judson.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chairman, we have copies of two CVs, so we'll enter those as exhibits.  Mr. Fediw's CV will be Exhibit K1.4, and Mr. Traini's K1.5.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4: CV OF ANTONY FEDIW.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5: CV OF CHRISTOPHER TRAINI.
COUNTY OF MIDDLESEX - PANEL 1


Antony Fediw, Sworn


Chris Traini, Sworn


MR. QUESNELLE:  Whenever you're ready, Mr. Judson.
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Judson:

MR. JUDSON:  Sure.  Thank you.

Mr. Traini, if I could begin you, sir.  What is your current position, please?

MR. TRAINI:  I'm currently the county engineer with Middlesex County.


MR. JUDSON:  And how long have you held that position?

MR. TRAINI:  I've been the county engineer since 2005.

MR. JUDSON:  And prior to that, you were the transportation engineer with the county?

MR. TRAINI:  That's correct.  I was initially hired as the transportation engineer in a succession planning role, to eventually take the role for of county engineer for the retiring county engineer in 2005.

MR. JUDSON:  And your own education and experience stems from your degree in civil engineering; correct?

MR. TRAINI:  That's correct.

MR. JUDSON:  And you also have a master’s of public administration?

MR. TRAINI:  Yes.

MR. JUDSON:  Now, could you tell the Board what your role is as the county engineer?

MR. TRAINI:  Well, my role as the county engineer is to oversee the construction or capital and maintenance activities of the roads and highways department in the County of Middlesex.

I also have responsibilities with regards to environmental services, and I also give engineering advice to council in the form of preparing policies and by-laws, giving advice based on potential development within the county.

I prepare long-term capital budget documents, as well as oversee staff of approximately 50.  There would be about six technical staff, and the remaining 40 some-odd would be construction and maintenance workers.

MR. JUDSON:  And do I understand that the county is the upper-tier municipality in a county structure with a number of local municipalities also in the county?

MR. TRAINI:  That's correct.

MR. JUDSON:  And the roads of the -- that are within the geographic boundaries of the County of Middlesex, are they county roads, local municipal roads, or some combination thereof?

MR. TRAINI:  It would be a mix.

MR. JUDSON:  And is there any process by which there is a change in the jurisdiction of one over the other?

MR. TRAINI:  Yes.  On about a five-year basis, we do what's called a county road assumption study, where we ask the lower-tier municipalities to nominate roads that they feel have increased in traffic or changed in use such that they no longer have the capacity to maintain the roads to the standards laid out under the Municipal Maintenance Standards Regulations under the Municipal Act.

And we set a committee and set a number of criteria by which, you know, we would evaluate roads based on traffic volumes or development potential, those sorts of things, and then county council, we'll make a recommendation to county council to assume roads that would meet the criteria set out by the committee.

MR. JUDSON:  Now, we've already heard reference to the fact that the stretch of Wonderland Road about which we have been discussing was assumed within the jurisdiction of the county July 1 last year; is that accurate?

MR. TRAINI:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. JUDSON:  And prior to July last year, within the jurisdiction of what municipality was it?

MR. TRAINI:  It would have been under the jurisdiction of Middlesex Centre.

MR. JUDSON:  Right.  And that is a local municipality within the county?

MR. TRAINI:  That's correct.

MR. JUDSON:  And at the time of the assumption of jurisdiction over this section of Wonderland Road, what obligations did the county embark upon, and what steps were taken to carry out those obligations?

MR. TRAINI:  Well, when we assumed that piece of the county road, it was under the terms of the county road assumption study.

The terms that were outlined in that study, some of the deficiencies that were identified -- it's a typical surface-treated rural road.  Part of it has been paved with hot-mix asphalt to service some of the residences that are close to the proximity of Medway and Wonderland Road.

We identified some deficiencies with regards to horizontal and vertical alignment, including the two reverse curves, as we call them, between Ten Mile and Eight Mile Road, that we spoke about earlier, with the discontinuities in the right of way.

And we anticipated that that -- those deficiencies would need to be addressed within the five-year capital budget timeframe.  And it's been currently identified for slotting into our capital budget in 2013.

And so we endeavoured to undertake a pre-engineering survey.  And typically, they began with the identifying of the property lines, so going out and finding bars and setting out the property lines to make sure the information we had on hand was accurate, and checking that information against the Registry Office.

And then they are currently in the stage of doing topographical survey, which they'll use as a basis for a design based on, typically, Ministry of Transportation geometric design manual guidelines for rural road design.

MR. JUDSON:  The current road allowance for this section of road about which we're speaking, what is that?

MR. TRAINI:  It's 20 metres.

MR. JUDSON:  And what is the ideal standard for a county Road in these circumstances?


MR. TRAINI:  Wonderland Road in this section is classified as an arterial roadway, and under the terms of the county Official Plan, we would endeavour to get a right of way, an ultimate right of way, of 36 metres.


MR. JUDSON:  And the section of road that you've begun to do the pre-engineering road (sic), is there any kind of an initial replacement cost estimate for that road?


MR. TRAINI:  No, our typical reconstruction cost is around $300,000 a kilometre for a rural cross-section.


MR. JUDSON:  And there are how many kilometres under review here?


MR. TRAINI:  I believe it's close to 8 kilometres.  We actually own the road from Medway Road to Ilderton Road, so there's a section north of the study area that was also assumed by the county as part of our county road assumption study.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, the section that is under review is approximately 5.5 kilometres?


MR. TRAINI:  Under this study, that's right.


MR. JUDSON:  So that would be about $1.5 million?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Could you just clarify, Mr. Traini? What portion is the 5.5 related to?


MR. TRAINI:  So the 5.5 I believe Mr. Judson is speaking of is the section from Medway Road to Ten Mile Road.


MR. JUDSON:  The location for...


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. JUDSON:  And so based on the approximate cost per kilometre, we're talking about a $1.5 million plus project?


MR. TRAINI:  Approximately, yes.


MR. JUDSON:  Thank you.


And you've indicated that it's scheduled in the capital budget for construction in 2013?


MR. TRAINI:  That's correct.


MR. JUDSON:  And if I could just change focus for a moment.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Judson, just before you do it, and I apologize for taking you off your train of thought here, but could we run by the numbers that we just went over again, because my note-taking and what I just heard at the end there weren't jiving.


MR. JUDSON:  The amount of road that was in total assumed was from Medway road to the Ilderton Road, which is north of the Ten Mile.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.


MR. JUDSON:  And that's where the 8-kilometre figure came from.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. JUDSON:  But the actual section of Wonderland that is under discussion here because of the Union Gas proposal is 5.54 --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. JUDSON:  -- kilometres.  And then the other number was approximately $300,000 a kilometre, and then I did the rough math.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. JUDSON:  Thank you.


Now, in your experience, both as the transportation engineer and as the county engineer, what would be the normal liaison, if any, between the County of Middlesex and Union Gas?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, it would typically be the same depending on -- independent of the scope of the project.  As Mr. Beauchamp said earlier, Union Gas would approach one of our staff - it may be Mr. Rychlo, who is our engineering supervisor, who is the head of our technical department - to let us know that there is some work being planned in the area in the future.  And, typically, that could be anything from -- typically we see service line.  It's usually distribution.


In the occasion where it's a high-pressure main line, that normally would come to me, because there's usually more in-depth a process involved.


If we're dealing with distribution, in order to provide service to local residents, you would be typically talking a about smaller diameter, lower pressure line, and it's a little less expensive to install.  Usually Jerry can handle that fairly well and fairly accurately for the county's purposes.


When it comes to more complex issues like this, you know, Jerry would defer to me, and I believe that's why I was brought into the conversation in the fall of 2010.


MR. JUDSON:  But just so that we're clear, Jerry is Jerry Rychlo?


MR. TRAINI:  It's Rychlo, yes.  He works for me as the engineering superintendent of Middlesex.


MR. JUDSON:  And he was referred to earlier as the road superintendent?


MR. TRAINI:  That's incorrect.  We have a road superintendent, but he's another gentleman that works for the county.


MR. JUDSON:  All right.  Now, we've heard that in September of last year, a representative of Union Gas spoke with Mr. Rychlo presumably to apprise him of Union Gas's plans, although we haven't heard the details.


Did you ever receive any report or any information from Mr. Rychlo about that?


MR. TRAINI:  No.


MR. JUDSON:  And would that be -- are you in a position to even know why you might not have heard about that?


MR. TRAINI:  I would only be able to speculate that Mr. Rychlo was handling it much in the case he would handle any meeting with a private utility, in that they would have a general discussion about the project, and many times it would just be incorporated into our plans, or he would handle things on his side of the department, because he has a capability to do so.


MR. JUDSON:  And when was the first time that you became aware of the extent and scope of the project being proposed?


MR. TRAINI:  I believe we had a meeting in-house with staff representatives from Union Gas, including Chantel, who Mr. Beauchamp mentioned earlier, who approached us to determine our concerns would be with regards to the pipeline.  And at that time, I was apprised that it was a high-pressure transmission line.


MR. JUDSON:  And do you remember when that occurred?


MR. TRAINI:  I believe it was in October of 2010.


MR. JUDSON:  And can you tell us what you understood to be the nature of the project and the time line that was being proposed?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.  They were clear that it was a pipeline to provide additional capacity to the northwest area of the city of London.


We were told that it would be a high pressure line, a 68-inch line.  They weren't entirely sure at that point what size it was going to be.  And it was a meeting where we were and Union Gas concerns with the construction of the pipeline, understanding that, one, there was limited right of way and what concerns that would have with the county; and, two, the fact that there was no engineering drawings, either preliminary or otherwise, that we could share with Union Gas and that we were in the process of assembling those plans.


I believe that was the meeting where we attempted to identify the alternative using easements adjacent to the right of way in order to get the offset into a position where there would be no danger of a short-term pipeline relocation.


MR. JUDSON:  And did the Union Gas representatives indicate to you what timeline that they wished to proceed with this construction?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.  They told us it was going to be the summer of 2011.


MR. JUDSON:  And when will the pre-engineering drawings be available, in accordance with the county's schedule of work as planned, after the assumption of the road?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, we generally would have our engineering drawings complete and ready for construction prior to the budget cycle for the year that the capital work was planned.  So in this case, we probably would be in a position to have completed plans in the winter of 2012 or very early 2013.


MR. JUDSON:  And just so we're clear, is that work underway as we speak?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, what are the concerns that you have -- had then and to the extent you still have them -- with respect to the proposed construction within the narrow right of way of the current Wonderland Road?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, I think the main concerns come from the fact that there is an uncertain final product in this case.  There are likely to be significant changes to both the vertical and horizontal alignment, which means the slope and the curves in the road.  Significant improvements to roadside drainage, which may include raising or lowering roadside ditches.  Replacement of existing drainage infrastructure, of which we don't have a firm handle on at this point.  That's something we would explore in pre-engineering.  The extension of at least one concrete box culvert that's in this section of roadway that the county would have to expand or widen in order to provide for the full road platform.  We definitely need to widen the shoulders.  There may be some other utility relocations that may be required, such as hydro poles.


And the main concern is that to provide a location within the existing right of way that will be such that Union Gas would not have to undertake a significant relocation project in the short-term timeframe, is impossible at this stage without having more detailed engineering design completed.


We did talk about some issues with extra depth that may be fine, except for the fact that if we do lower the profile of the road significantly, even in the matter of a couple of feet, you start to approach a dangerous situation, where for perhaps long stretches of the highway, you would have to relocate that pipeline.  And my concern would be in some of those locations, it would either have to go extremely deep, because of the changing grade, or we'd have to find an alternative location, either through an easement or elsewhere, off of the existing right of way.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, have you been shown any design drawings for pipeline?


MR. TRAINI:  No.


MR. JUDSON:  And are you in any position to comment on the design characteristics of the proposed pipeline for construction beginning July of this year?


MR. TRAINI:  I don't have enough information to be able to provide a -- you know, any sort of reasonable assumption that's what's going to be proposed is not going conflict with our proposed capital works and perhaps even in the future any proposed maintenance works that might happen if the pipeline is aligned under the bottom of a ditch with perhaps shallow cover in some cases or –- and adjacent to some of the municipal drain crossings that exist.


MR. JUDSON:  Was there any suggestion, in your discussions with Union Gas, that this line would be to service anyone other than the city of London?


MR. TRAINI:  No.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, you you've seen the exhibit that was entered as K1.3, I believe, being the aerial photograph of Wonderland Road, showing the discontinuity in the road allowance.


Could you just confirm that, indeed, is one of two discontinuous road allowance areas?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MR. JUDSON:  All right.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just for the record, that was K1.2.
MR. JUDSON:  Sorry.  Thank you very much.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, obviously the city -- sorry, the County of Middlesex runs its road over –-


MS. ANNIS:  Sorry, I think it was actually K -– I have it as K1.3.  I have the franchise agreement as K1.2.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I'm sorry.  I've mislabelled myself earlier.  I'm glad that came up.


MR. JUDSON:  I gave away my last copy, so I don't have one that I've labelled.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I have an earlier -- a decision and order by the Board of K1.2.  My mistake.  Thank you.


MR. JUDSON:  Thank you.


In any event, we note on that aerial that, in fact, the road itself curves in such a way as to clearly be outside the road allowance?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MR. JUDSON:  And what's the historical status of that?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, the historical status goes back to when they actually did the layout of some of these roadways, back many, many years ago, probably a hundred years ago.



And I think you can see from where the two discontinuities are that it's mid-concession to a mid-concession discontinuity.


So there was -- when the surveyors did the layout, that's just the way the property lines ended up being misaligned, is that one guy came from the east, one guy came from the west.  And you see that from time to time in the county.  In fact, Adelaide Street, which is just on the other side of Highway 4, we had the same issue, although the road was completely enclosed within the right of way.


And this is one of the reasons why we immediately proceeded to -- with the pre-engineering, not only the fact that the road needed reconstruction because of its condition, but also because of the alignment not being completely within public right of way.


MR. JUDSON:  Right.  So is that, then, going to be part of the rebuild?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.  Typically what we would do is we would do the engineering design or at least a preliminary engineering design for the road, to see what we needed to encapsulate as far as limits to the right of way, and then approach the property owners in the vicinity to show them what we were attempting to do.


In our experience, most times property owners are willing partners, in that if the offer is fair with regards to the property values, you know, the county has been successful -- generally successful in the past with purchasing property from adjacent landowners.


And in the rare circumstance where we've had issues or disagreements, we've gone to expropriation, and we use our engineering plans as a justification for the need to expropriate property.


MR. JUDSON:  When you raised the issue of the rebuild of Wonderland Road and all of the other issues that that raises for the county, what was the response of Union Gas?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, we did have a more general meeting and proposed to Union Gas -- this was a meeting, I believe, in January or February of this year, with Mr. Beauchamp and myself and representatives from Union Gas and the city of London -- that in order to find a location that would be at a standard offset from the centre line of construction of the road, for an arterial right of way of this nature, that a 17.1-metre offset from the centre line of the road would be appropriate, such that in our very, very long plans, there would be no impact on that running alignment.


They went away, and I spoke to Mr. Beauchamp on the phone, who told me they were actually going to pursue that practice and go out and make offers to the property owners to see if they could acquire easement out to 18 metres, with the understanding that when the county came down the line to do future road widening at some point, that they wanted to make sure the edge of their easement matched where the edge of our ideal road right of way would be, so we would assume the entire easement from Union Gas at that time.


And basically, we were working going forward on that basis until, I think, as recently as April.  We were informed that Union Gas was not successful with their negotiations, other than in a couple of situations in the county; they were a little more successful in the city.  And they were going to pursue installing the gas line through the existing right of way under the terms of the franchise agreement.

MR. JUDSON:  Now, do you have at this stage any direct knowledge of what attempts were made to acquire the easements?

MR. TRAINI:  I just have anecdotal evidence from two of the landowners, who had told me that it was a single offer and they had not heard back from Union Gas after that time.

MR. JUDSON:  Now, with respect to the franchise agreement, what do you understand to be the implications if the once-built gas line on Wonderland Road has to be rebuilt, reconstructed, altered, however affected by the road rebuild?

What's your understanding of the obligation that may or may not fall upon the county?

MR. TRAINI:  Well, it's my understanding that there's cost-sharing arrangement where we would pay 35 percent of Union Gas's costs for the relocation of that line.

MR. JUDSON:  And do you have any information at this stage that would allow you to even estimate what that exposure might be?

MR. TRAINI:  Only through the numbers that were provided.  I think earlier today we talked about the number.  Again, about $700,000 is what we estimate to be.  If we took the total cost of that section as around $2 million, about 35 percent, you know, that would be around $700,000.

MR. JUDSON:  When the county took on -- took over the jurisdiction of the municipal -- of the roadway, Wonderland Road, and moved to do its pre-engineering design to bring the road up to municipal standards, was there any -- did the county have any idea that they might be hit with another large capital investment because of the construction of this line?

MR. TRAINI:  No.

MR. JUDSON:  When, based on your current scheduling, would you be in a position to share with Union Gas, in a meaningful way, information as to the nature of the rebuild, the nature of the resulting road allowance, and provide sufficient information for them to locate their line so that it would not impact -- be impacted by the road reconstruction?

MR. TRAINI:  Well, our design team -- we have our own in-house surveyors who do the pre-engineering survey.  That work is completed in the fall, winter, and spring, and then in the summer those same surveyors act as asphalt inspectors or other contract administration staff.

So at this point in time, they are -- because we're right at the start of construction season, our staff have moved from that project to other projects.  And that's the way we've done things in the county, because we are a fairly lean technical team.

I would anticipate that we would have a preliminary design completed by next spring, at the very latest.  We have, again -- you know, trying to work with Union Gas to provide them as much information as we can.  We've told them that when we have a topographical survey complete, we'd be happy to share that.

It wouldn't be reflective of what we were going to design for the road, but would certainly be of assistance to them to have more detail available for their proposed alignment, and we would pick up things like drains and buried culverts and pipes, and those sorts of things that they wouldn't -- may or may not necessarily have on record at this stage.

So I would say that information is probably available October/November time frame of this year, and our detailed preliminary design probably into March of 2012.

MR. JUDSON:  And does the county have any fundamental objection to allowing its road allowance to be used as a distribution pipeline for the -- for Union Gas?

MR. TRAINI:  If it's -- if the purpose of the line is to distribute natural gas to county citizens and residents, then, no.  But the indication in this case is this is, in my opinion, a transmission pipeline to provide capacity to residents in a neighbouring municipality, in this case, the city of London.

As much as we would like to be partners in that, we're certainly not in a position to accept risk and additional costs to the county ratepayer or to county employees for this type of installation.

MR. JUDSON:  Now, we've heard that the road jurisdiction was taken over from Middlesex Centre on July the 1st last.  Do you have any information that would indicate that Union Gas spoke with Middlesex Centre prior to July 1st?

MR. TRAINI:  No.

MR. JUDSON:  If I could turn to Mr. Fediw, Mr. Fediw, if I could look at your curriculum vitae, K1.4?

Do I understand that you are the senior project manager and a professional engineer with AECOM?

MR. FEDIW:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. JUDSON:  And what does AECOM do or stand for?

MR. FEDIW:  AECOM stands for architects, engineers, construction management, operators, and I forget the M.  I think it might be maintenance.

They're a very large engineering company, approximately 45,000 employees in North America and close to 450,000 employees around the world.  I've been told we have employees on seven continents, including Antarctica, so...

MR. JUDSON:  And you have only been with them for a very short time?

MR. FEDIW:  Yes, since March of 2010.

MR. JUDSON:  And your background is as an engineer?

MR. FEDIW:  Yes.  Predominantly early in my career, I was a structural engineer for the province of Ontario, and for six years I worked for the city of London as manager of engineering planning, where I undertook several roles:  A member of the UCC, managing large capital projects, roads, bridges sewers, pollution control plants, water distribution, growth management plans, development charges, all sorts of things that would come up.


I prepared and reviewed several EAs in my career, starting early with bridges and roads, moving towards steam distribution systems in the city of London, and water, sanitary, all that.

MR. JUDSON:  And you mentioned the UCC.  What's the UCC?

MR. FEDIW:  It's the utility coordination committee, and it's a city of London-sponsored group that meet twice a month, I believe.  And they review projects that occur on or near the city's right of way for coordination and traffic management purposes.

MR. JUDSON:  Right.  And is that the body that was referred to by the witnesses on the panel by Union Gas?

MR. FEDIW:  I believe so, yes.

MR. JUDSON:  And is the county a participant in that committee?

MR. FEDIW:  No.

MR. JUDSON:  And we've heard about it being on an agenda back in September, but that would be after you've left?

MR. FEDIW:  Yes.  Yes, sir.  I wasn't there at that time.

MR. JUDSON:  All right.  Now, you mentioned that you've had experience reviewing environmental study reports?

MR. FEDIW:  Yes.


MR. JUDSON:  And have you given evidence before boards such as the Ontario Municipal Board.


MR. FEDIW:  Ontario Municipal Board and hearings of necessities for land property takings.


MR. JUDSON:  And your evidence has been accepted as that of an expert, able to give opinion evidence?


MR. FEDIW:  That's correct.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, how did you come to be involved in the city -- sorry, in the county's situation with respect to this Union Gas...


MR. FEDIW:  I believe Chris Traini came to the office about three weeks ago and asked to talk to me, and asked me to do a peer review of the Azimuth document.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, in the normal course, in my experience, one would have a letter of engagement, which would set out the nature of the work to be done and the timeline and in some instances, of course, the financial implications of the work to be done.


Was there any such correspondence exchanged between you and the county prior to you embarking upon this peer review?


MR. FEDIW:  No.  We often are engaged for projects that are very short and very quick, so we can just discuss time and materials, and that's basically what we did in this case.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, the report that's been filed with the Board, dated May 10, 2011, is that the product of your peer review?


MR. FEDIW:  Yes.


MR. JUDSON:  I would ask that Mr. Fediw be qualified to give evidence on his peer review of an environmental study report by Azimuth.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Ms. Annis, do you have a comment?  Any objection to that?


MS. ANNIS:  We'll hear the evidence subject to comment later on.


I do have some issues with his experience, in the sense that I don't think that Mr. Fediw has ever conducted an EA.  He appears to be a transportation engineer, as opposed to an environmental consultant, which are both very different aspects of the development process.


He comments in his report on some things that have to do with regulations, and I'm not sure that he's qualified to do that.


I would also mention that we only received his qualifications today, in the hearing, which is outside of the Rules of Procedure for the Board.  Typically, when you submit evidence, you are supposed to file a qualification, and that could have easily been done and would have been, indeed, very helpful for Union to have received that last week, especially given the late filing of the evidence.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. Millar, do you have any comment?


MR. MILLAR:  I don't, Mr. Quesnelle.


What I'm hearing is that there is not a specific objection to the evidence going in as being filed by an expert.


Ms. Annis may ask some questions, and presumably to the extent she makes any hay from that, that would go to the weight or something of that nature.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  A couple of things -- thank you, Mr. Millar.


I think a blanket acceptance of all evidence that will be provided as being taken as from an expert, we'll go through it.  And if there are any issues as we go through it, I expect to hear objections on whether or not there is expertise in that area.  And it is more than customary the Board expects to also often see -- especially in cases like this -- the letter of engagement.


I recognize full well the nature of how the engagement might have been taken on, but without specifics as to what the outcome or the expectations are in that engagement, it's difficult to expect expert testimony in that regard.


MR. JUDSON:  Well, regrettably, there is no letter of engagement, so...


MR. QUESNELLE:  I recognize that, and that's what makes it difficult for the Board to put full weight to the expertise, because it's not only the expertise that we'd be looking for in that expert, in accepting the evidence on an opinion basis, but also:  What is the nature of the engagement?  And we don't have that specifically, so that was my point.


But let's go through it, and let's put it this way, that we will accept opinion evidence.  If there are objections as to whether or not expertise truly lies in that area that the opinion is given, we'll be prepared to hear that.


MR. JUDSON:  All right.


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you.


MR. JUDSON:  Mr. Fediw, the report that you filed, dated May 10th, has been received, then, by the Board.


Have you had an opportunity to re-review this for your evidence given today?


MR. FEDIW:  Yes.


MR. JUDSON:  And does this still represent your opinion with respect to the Azimuth report?


MR. FEDIW:  Yes.


MR. JUDSON:  And do I understand that this is not intended to be a statement about design or construction or timing of or need of the project itself?


MR. FEDIW:  No.  My comments are restricted to the report itself.


MR. JUDSON:  I -- as I said at the outset, sir, in the interests of time and given the fact that it's been filed, and it's not a long report, I do not intend to ask any further questions of this witness, subject, of course, to my friend's cross-examination.


And that is the evidence I wish to call.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Judson.


Mr. Millar, do you have anything at this point, or would you prefer to...


MR. MILLAR:  I suppose I could go.  I probably have three or four minutes' worth of cross-examination.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Good afternoon, witnesses.  My name is Michael Millar.  I'm counsel for Board Staff.


Just a couple of clarification points I would like to go over with you.


The portions of Wonderland Road that lie in Middlesex, I guess south of Ten Mile Road or so, are there currently other utility infrastructure easements along that route?
MR. TRAINI:  The only one that we had discovered through some of our examinations in our early meetings with Union Gas was there was an old telecommunication easement that was -- I believe ran along the east side of the road. It was separated from the road by a parcel of property, but it was a telecommunications easement for -- I believe it was, like, fibre-optic cable.  It was never used.


So at one point there was an easement established.  I'm not sure of the legal status of that easement or not, but there was a utility easement there at one point in time, or at least the outline of one.


MR. MILLAR:  So there's no water main under this road currently, or along this easement?


MR. TRAINI:  There may be a water main within the right of way, but again, we're collecting information to find out what's there at this point in time.  It would be contained within the public highway.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, you don't know whether there is currently a water main running along Wonderland Road?


MR. TRAINI:  I don't believe there is.  And I should clarify that.


In a two-tiered system such as Middlesex County and Middlesex Centre, the county is responsible solely for the road infrastructure, so the roads, the ditches, the drainage.


The local municipality would have jurisdiction over the water, sewer, storm water, in some cases.  So there's some coordination that needs to be done.


I'm almost a hundred percent sure there's no water line along this road, but again, that's something we would pick up as part of our pre-engineering survey.


MR. MILLAR:  So that I guess to find that out for certain, you would check with the town, was it, or...


MR. TRAINI:  It would be Middlesex Centre, yeah.


And our technical staff would talk to the local drainage official, the local public works officials, the planners, those sorts of things, to collect all that information from the local municipality of the things under their jurisdiction, and we'd incorporate it into our plan.


MR. MILLAR:  To the extent that there is anything, any infrastructure currently buried along the current road allowance, to the extent that the road is widened in 2013 or whenever it is, I would presume that would have to be moved as well; is that a fair comment?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, the question will be when we do the design, we would have to see what actually has to be done.


So for example, if we have a typical cross-section that wouldn't necessarily fit in a 20-metre right of way, so we have prescribed offsets for running water lines, gas lines, Bell, cable, you name it.  We try and create a location within the right of way for each utility, understanding that we're somewhat obligated to provide that corridor to whoever's providing a public good.


In this case, I think I mentioned earlier that there may be some hydro poles that may need to be relocated.  Again, it would depend on what the changes are in the vertical and horizontal alignment of the road.


There's not a widening of travelled lanes.  We would still stay a two-lane road, one lane north and one lane south, but the shoulder width is deficient and the ditches may not be aligned properly or graded properly for drainage.


So we try and correct those issues, and in some of those cases, we would need to go out and acquire property from adjacent landowners in order to facilitate our construction.  But again, in the worst-case scenario, even where I had to go to an expropriation, I don't have any evidence to provide to a Board hearing or to provide to landowners to tell them today what the final outlook or outcome of the property is going to be or the road is going to be like and the effects on their property.


So we're probably about ten months behind where I'd be in a position to have a plan to show to adjacent landowners to show the full impact.


And then at that point, we would know and would be setting up -- typically the summer before we go to construction, setting up Union Gas and Ontario Hydro to do their relocations ahead of us getting in because of Ministry of Labour issues with different contractors at work, and so on and so forth.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, I hadn't appreciated that.  You may have said that before, but I understand now you're not actually broadening the road itself.  It's just the road allowance?


MR. TRAINI:  Right now what we're trying to do is bring the road up to a current-day engineering standard.  And to do that, in some cases we may actually have to push some of the ditches a little further away from the centre of the road.  And in some of those cases, we may actually have to purchase land from adjacent landowners to facilitate that in order to create a safe roadside environment.


Part of the deficiency is in a lot of these old roads, surface-treated roads, the shoulder is too narrow.  So we will have to widen the shoulders, and subsequently push the ditch further out.  And depending on where we can tie into the existing property line, we may or may not have to purchase property.


We typically try to avoid doing a wholesale property purchase along the whole road at the time of construction, unless it's absolutely necessary.  We have done it in the past, but it's in those cases where we have significant issues to overcome.


It may be the case in this situation, but we don't have a design to tell us whether or not that is the case.  It comes back to the timing of our work versus Union Gas's proposal, in that if we were more in sync, we probably could come to a point where we would be able to go forward as a team and go out and make sure we had enough property to do everything we both needed to do.


We're out of sync by about a year and a half, and that's sort of the crux of the argument of the county, is that we're not opposed to the fact that Union Gas needs to supply -- or have stated they need to supply an additional supply to the northwest of London.


It's the fact that there is a potential significant burden placed on Middlesex County's operations and Middlesex County's future construction plans, because we don't have a concrete plan to supply anyone, because we just got the road, you know, less than a year ago as part of our county road assumption study.


So that's our real complication at this stage of the game.


MR. MILLAR:  Is it possible that any new gas lines -- is it possible that they would not have to be moved, and is that simply something you can't answer now?


MR. TRAINI:  It is possible, yes.  I just can't answer it, because I don't have that information.  If I had a pre-engineering plan, we probably could work towards something.  I think in this case, though, I have some significant worry.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't want you to get into any confidential discussions or anything of that nature, but I take it at least since this application has been filed, you've been having some discussions with Union?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes, we've had great cooperation with Union Gas staff.  Mr. Beauchamp has talked to me many times on the telephone to keep me apprised of where they're moving forward, and we're trying to provide them with as much information as possible.


When we had our first sort of sit-down meeting as a group together last fall, we provided them with as many legal property plans as we had available.  We copied all those plans for Union Gas, and they were very happy to receive that from us.


We want to work in a partnership, and insofar as we've been brought on board with the project, I think our workings have gone fairly smoothly.


MR. MILLAR:  I suppose this is more of a comment than a question, but I think it's probably fair to say that everyone, the Board included, would probably be happier if a way could be found to resolve this.


I guess you've had discussions, and to the extent that you're able to work something out within the time line of this hearing, we'll hear about it.  But I guess I don't really have another question for you in that regard, so let me move on.


Again, we've heard today, and I don't know if we'd heard it before - I hadn't read it - you're looking now at 2013?  For whatever work you're going to do on the road, it would be 2013?  That's what the capital budget allows for it?


MR. TRAINI:  The capital budget hasn't been approved.  It's in our long-term budget.  So we have what's called a five-year capital plan.  It is tentatively scheduled for 2013.  What we have is we're currently in the middle of a two-year project that will be complete in the fall of next year, and we hope to roll this one out again as a two-year project for 2014 for this section of Wonderland Road, and then 2014 for the northern section of Wonderland.


MR. MILLAR:  When would you be able -- I know obviously it wouldn't be in this hearing, but when would you be able to confirm that 2013 is the date?  When will that decision be made?


MR. TRAINI:  We'll be approving a new five-year capital plan this summer at some point in time.  So I would imagine maybe in July or August of this year they would -- and, again, when you talk about long-term capital planning in the municipal world, budgets can change from year to year.  Plans can change as quickly as the spring budget deliberations go.


But as far as the County of Middlesex highways department, we would have it planned and have an engineering package ready to go for construction in 2013.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, let me put the question to you.


Is it possible to go out and start obtaining the required easements and whatnot now, or is that something you would have to wait until final approval in the capital budget for?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, you know, I think that to be fair, our council, of course, knows of the project.  And my expenditures are based on what council allows me to do outside of the normal budget practice.


I have been in communication with the local mayor for Middlesex Centre and a few of the residents to try and encourage them to work with Union Gas for the easements because of the benefit to the county and to Union Gas and to the city of London for the project.


We have -- Don and I have chatted a little bit about where we could go as far as if the county needed to purchase property.  In those cases, we would buy out to a limit that would help Union Gas find a straight running line.  In other cases, they would have to take easement.


We're trying to get there.  Again, it's a question of we can't get there without more information, and I think that's the main struggle right now.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you happen to know how deep the pipeline would have to be so that it wouldn't interfere with the road-widening project?


MR. TRAINI:  I can't say.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  Ms. Annis?


MS. ANNIS:  Can we just request a short break, just to reconvene?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Twenty minutes, that would be fine?


MS. ANNIS:  More than enough.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Let's return, then, at 25 to 3:00.  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 2:13 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:41 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Ms. Annis?

Cross-Examination by Ms. Annis:


MS. ANNIS:  So Mr. Traini, I guess the first line of questions would be with regard to pre-engineering and the work that would have to be done on the part of the county in order to come to some sort of -- some final design.


Now, it's your evidence that this design would -- the pre-engineering design would only be finalized in 2013?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.  Yeah.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And then after that process, it would go to a potential capital budget at that point, to be approved by the county?


MR. TRAINI:  The project would be in the capital budget during the sort of the fine-tuning of the detailed design, yes.


MS. ANNIS:  So that would be, again, in 2013?


MR. TRAINI:  2013.


MS. ANNIS:  And when does that capital budget get approved in 2013?  What are we talking about?


MR. TRAINI:  Probably March, that timeframe, yeah.


MS. ANNIS:  March?  Okay.  And then after that, you would proceed with seeking -- if we're talking about a road widening, you would probably need to seek expropriations from landlords along certain parts of that route?


MR. TRAINI:  We may, yes.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And does that procedure start before you get the approval in the capital budget, or are those funds in the capital budget?


MR. TRAINI:  It would be a special budget item.  It would be pre-approved before capital budget.  So it would be done in probably this time in 2012.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And then after that you would -- after the capital budget is approved in 2013, I'm assuming that that means that you could actually start with the project, start with the construction towards, I don't know, summer of 2013?  Or are there other things that you would have to take into account?


MR. TRAINI:  No.  We do that type of road construction with our in-house staff, so we would just get them scheduled in.  They usually start, you know, end of June, early July, on that kind of work.


MS. ANNIS:  But again, so these are tentatives we're talking here?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  And again, like you said, it's possible that it wouldn't even be put in the capital budget, given the number of projects that you've got on the line?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, it would definitely be put in the capital budget, because I'm -– would present the capital budget, and I think that because of the state of the road and especially those couple of reverse curves that are between Ten Mile and Eight Mile Road, we probably would defer other projects as opposed to deferring this one.


So I would be pretty confident that we would get this into the 2013 capital budget.


MS. ANNIS:  Right.  And can you go to schedule 3 now of the evidence?


MR. TRAINI:  I'm sorry, I don't have the evidence in front of me.


MS. ANNIS:  Oh, maybe your counsel could provide.


MR. JUDSON:  Have you got a witness copy?


MS. ANNIS:  Sorry?


MR. JUDSON:  Do you have a witness copy?


MS. ANNIS:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  I have an extra.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.


MS. ANNIS:  And so schedule 3 of the evidence shows the forecast for that timeframe.  And we're looking at, '13, 5,000 new customers, many of which -- some are commercial, some are industrial.


So that puts us well into the area of need that Union stated was this morning in terms of -- so there's definitely a possibility here, you would agree with me, that the –- that those customers would, in fact, face the possibility of not being supplied with gas during that timeframe?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, I think we would get Union Gas involved in 2012 to get their line in before our constructors, because there would be some constructability issues with Ministry of Labour, with our staff working with Union Gas’s contractors.


So we'd have them in in the fall.


And if I'm assuming these numbers are correct, that this would all be city of London growth, I'm assuming, in the northwest.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And the second -- we mentioned this morning that there was the talk of the city of London would undertake to widen Wonderland Road, but they're not looking at doing that for another 10 years.


Would you do widen Wonderland Road, given that it's the same road?  Would you go ahead with those plans in advance of working with the city of London or is that typically something that you would do?


MR. TRAINI:  Yeah.  There's usually a bit of a natural divide between the city and the county.  In this case, the limit of impact that we would have for widening to, say –- and I'm assuming the City is talking about a four-lane cross-section, two northbound, two southbound.  When they talk about widening just because of the scope of the traffic that they would have between Sunningdale and Fanshawe, our limit would probably be to the intersection of Medway Toad and Wonderland Road.  We would look at, like, a widening of the actual amount of infrastructure.


In my opinion, there wouldn't be a traffic demand any further north than Medway Road.


And that typically happens around the boundaries with the city and the county.  There's usually either an intersection or, like, a choke point presented by a bridge, where it's just not financially feasible to extend the widening further out to the county.


We try to coordinate, but in many cases, it's brought to a certain limit and it just goes as far as the transportation demands would push it.


MS. ANNIS:  And in the event that you did -- I mean, you did have to go with road winding -- you would have to seek expropriations from landowners, wouldn't you?


MR. TRAINI:  Oh, for sure.  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  Right.  And am I correct in saying that, you know -- I think it would be easier if you had Union Gas seeking those expropriations?  Was that suggested?


MR. TRAINI:  Yeah, I think that when I spoke with Union Gas staff, not necessarily expropriation but land acquisition, whether it's a friendly acquisition or expropriation, we would go in as a team, just to justify the need for the land.


MS. ANNIS:  Right.  So it would be easier for you to have Union alongside?


Okay.  And have you had problems -- I mean, I guess the other part of it was whether or not this road widening -- which I'm not sure is entirely clear now whether or not you're doing road widening or just widening the shoulder, can you –- like, are we talking about widening the road, or are we just talking about widening the shoulder?


MR. TRAINI:  To be really clear, it's the work would be addressing deficiencies in the existing road cross-section.  So --


MS. ANNIS:  And where are those deficiencies?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, we're working on trying to find where those deficiencies are, as part of our road pre-engineering.  So you're talking about --


MS. ANNIS:  And the road is pretty flat, is it not?  Wonderland Road?  I mean, it's –-


MR. TRAINI:  When you get up by the couple of river crossings --


MR. JUDSON:  Mr. Chairman, if I could, I think my friend is confusing road -- travelled portion widening versus road right of way, road allowance widening.


There's a very big difference between a road allowance widening, which is being discussed here, versus whether the actual travelled portion will be any bigger than two lanes.


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Annis, I don't know if your questions caused some confusion there or not.  I don't know that they did.


MS. ANNIS:  No, I think it was to actually just to clarify that point, because of the questions that Mr. Millar brought up earlier.


So if you can just continue, in terms of that?


MR. TRAINI:  Yeah, I mean, we're looking for the deficiencies.  That's the purpose of the pre-engineering right?


So we look and actually get a physical measurement for where the deficiencies are.  There is some -- there's a couple of vertical curves there that may or may not need to be corrected, where we may see a significant drop in grade.


The one in particular I'm thinking about is near the concrete box culvert, where you come over the hill and come down to the drain crossing.


And then the shoulders themselves typically, again, when we see these rural roads getting converted to a modern standard, the shoulders are usually, you know, half a metre wide, and they should be a metre and a half.


So those kind of things we go out and measure.


And then, of course, you have to tie in with the safe axle (ph.) to the bottom of the ditch, and then you can figure out if the ditch is deep.  And you may have to change grade on private property.


And in most cases, we'll go out and talk to the property owner about moving the property line back.  In some rare cases, we'll actually just get permission to grade on their property.  And in some cases, if it's a significant hazard like a hydro pole that's right at the edge of the road, and we need to move it back, we'll try to create -- put it back at the property line or somewhere near there.


And then things -- because it's a narrow right of way, it's just congested, because you're trying to create areas for all the road infrastructure, but all the utility infrastructure, as well.  So in 20 metres, it can be difficult.


MS. ANNIS:  In meetings with -- in conversations with Union, they offered to build the pipeline anywhere within the road allowance in order to help you with your future reconstruction.


How did you reply to that offer?


MR. TRAINI:  I think when Don and I talked about that -- Mr. Beauchamp, sorry -- we just wanted to make sure it wasn't going to create a conflict, because we weren't sure what was there.


So we have 10 metres.  I think we talked about an offset of about a foot from property line would be something that they would be comfortable with as far as location-wise, adjacent to the property line, to keep it completely within the road allowance.


But he didn't have information to provide me, and I think we didn't have information to provide back, with regards to details.


MS. ANNIS:  So you didn't get back to him, did you, on that?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, we talked on that basis until I received a call from Mr. Beauchamp saying they were going to address -- well, I got phone calls from property owners saying they were out seeking easements.  You know, it's been a very relatively short period of time since that was abandoned and the position was to come to the Board today to talk about putting in the road allowance.


We haven't been able to get back together to talk about where to go from here going forward.


MS. ANNIS:  But you would agree with me that Union's position has always been one to offer to try and work with you to the extent possible, and even offering to do lower depths, and also to locate anywhere within the future road construction?  But the fact of the matter is that because you don't have enough insight into your future road construction plans that are possibly five years down the road, you can't necessarily provide them with that information, can you?


MR. TRAINI:  No.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And just turning now to the -- just one question.


Have you had -- have you had issued in the past -- has Middlesex County had issues in the past with hitting pipes, hitting gas pipes?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  That's a problem?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  And in the end, who absorbed that cost?


MR. TRAINI:  The county.


MS. ANNIS:  The county?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  And was that because they didn't follow procedure?  Was that the finding of that --


MR. TRAINI:  I don't know if I need to or want to get into too much detail.  There was a bit of a conflict between utility locates that were provided to the county and where the actual utility was.  And we were given clearance to go ahead, and unfortunately it was not in the location we were told, and then we were of course investigated by TSSA, and then we just followed through with that.  And I think --


MS. ANNIS:  So it was the county.  So I guess what I'm trying to get here -- get at here --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, Ms. Annis.  I didn't hear the complete answer.


MR. JUDSON:  Yes, if the witness could be allowed to answer the question fully?  You just jumped in and he's in the middle of his answer.


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.  We went back to Union Gas and addressed our concerns with utility locate.  So now going forward, we've taken some additional procedures in-house to protect our own staff, but have worked with Union Gas with regards to making sure that when we get locates, that, you know, we're -- we have been given assurances that if we're not comfortable with the response given by whoever the locator is on that particular day at that location -- and we've had good response from Union Gas to come out and provide us with additional detail going forward.


So we avoid those conflicts going -- hopefully avoid those conflicts going forward.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  But the fact is that you have encountered issues in the past, and that's probably one of the things that is one of the considerations that you're taking into account here, is that you would rather not have to dig around the pipelines; is that correct?


MR. TRAINI:  It's more the additional cost that's involved.  And depending on where the alignment is, that could be significant.


MS. ANNIS:  But I think -- I mean, the evidence of our panel and you, as well, is that this -- there might not even have to be any relocation whatsoever, depending.  So, again, you would agree with me that we're dealing with a very tentative cost down the road?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, it's an unknown.


MS. ANNIS:  It's an unknown, and it's tentative?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, it's not even tentative.  It will happen.  I mean, construction will happen on that roadway.  It would be irresponsible for the municipality not to update it.  We've committed to that and done a road assumption study.


MS. ANNIS:  Sorry, I'm referring to the tentativeness of the possible relocation, as well.


MR. TRAINI:  Yeah, I think it's just going to be when we get the design done, again, and we come back to timing.  We could avoid this completely if we had design now or if we had more property now.  And it's -- that's sort of where we're stuck at this stage, is we don't have the detail.


I don't think Union Gas has the detail.  We certainly don't have it.  We don't have the right of way.  I know Union Gas has tried to get easement.


But since that point, we haven't had an opportunity to sort of try to work forward from that, because of the deadlines of this hearing and trying to get something in the ground this summer.


So the county is still here to try and be a partner, but it's just we're in a bit of a crunch now, so Don and I haven't had a chance, really, to come up with any kind of alternatives at this stage.


And I've just -- I mean, the reason we're here is we're just a bit worried that it's going to be forced upon us in a location that may or may not be appropriate.


MS. ANNIS:  And, again, we're dealing, though, with tentatives way down the line.  That's the problem.


And you would agree with me that the need that has been identified by Union is a real need, and that is not tentative?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, I don't know.  I'm not a natural gas person.  I assume the evidence provided by Union Gas is --


MR. FEDIW:  Perhaps I could wade in on this as the author of the city of London's growth management plan?


MS. ANNIS:  It's okay.  I don't think I need to your evidence at the moment.


MR. FEDIW:  Well, the evidence suggests it is a city-wide need, and the city of London's growth has fluctuated rapidly over the last ten years.  And, actually, they've undertaken the southwest area plan to look at moving the growth from the north towards the south.


So "tentative" when it comes to the word "growth" and to the projection of housing units is probably more apt to the need suggested by Union Gas.


MS. ANNIS:  So, Mr. Fediw, I'll get to my questions to you in a little bit.  I'm just pursuing -- I'd rather you not interrupt me.


MR. FEDIW:  It's a panel discussion.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me, Mr. Fediw.  You are a witness panel, and the witnesses will answer questions in a format that are put to them.  Thank you.


MR. JUDSON:  Well, if I might, sir, the whole point of a panel is to have combined expertise so that a particular question does not go uninformed.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I recognize that, and I will leave it to the counsel to exercise her rights as to the way she sees fit at this time.  And if there is something -- and I recognize that we are an administrative tribunal and that we will -- the Panel, this Panel, wants nothing more than to be properly informed, but there is a process which we should take to do that.


And at the end of the day, I will understand whether or not something needs to be added to the record.


MR. JUDSON:  Well, all I'm saying is that I have made no objection, nor would I in the normal course, because I've dealt with these kinds of witness panels many, many times over the last 25, 35 years.  I've made no objection to Mr. Fisher and Mr. Beauchamp regularly consulting with each other prior to an answer.


And if Mr. Fediw has something to contribute on the point that is being made by counsel, surely to goodness that's why we put them --


MR. QUESNELLE:  I didn't understand that to be the case.  And I'd be quite interested in, you know, his opinion, whether or not it would be an expert opinion or not, on the city of London planning, which is not something which I thought we had before us in a report here.


MR. JUDSON:  The question that was put to the witness was -- asked him to essentially - that is, to Mr. Traini - agree that the growth that was projected as part of the urgent need for this particular reinforcement was a given, as opposed to him being in a position of saying, quite honestly, that the exact -- this design and needs of the road reconstruction were still to be determined.


And Mr. Fediw, from his own experience, was simply elaborating on the fact that one shouldn't take the northwest growth statistics as being necessarily a given either.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I understand.  I understood the point, and thanks for recapping it.  But Mr. Fediw is here as your witness.  The city of London has withdrawn as an intervenor in this case, and I'm not entertaining Mr. Fediw's previous experience as being one that could bring forward evidence on what the city of London sees as being appropriate in these -- you know, or basically the accuracy of these projections.


So that was my point when interrupting.  I don't believe it was on point as to what the question was, and I do not think that your witness has been put forward as an expert or to speak on behalf of the city of London's projections on growth.  Thank you.


MS. ANNIS:  Thank you.


Mr. Traini, just a couple of quick questions.  So it's your sworn testimony that previous to October 2010, you were never informed of a Union project.  You had no idea.  It was simply not on your radar until that meeting; is that correct?


MR. TRAINI:  It was the -- the transmission line was not.  There were other Union projects that were on our radar.


MS. ANNIS:  We're just speaking of this project.  You just simply had no idea?


MR. TRAINI:  No.


MS. ANNIS:  And Jerry Rychlo, he is your direct report?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  And you would agree with me that customers are being added to the northwest London system on a day-to-day basis?


MR. TRAINI:  I don't know that for sure.  You know, I'm not sure what's going on in northwest London, as far as development going on.


MS. ANNIS:  But so far the evidence in this proceeding is that customers are indeed being added on a day-to-day basis; it's not just that they will be added as of November 2011, but they're being added on a day-to-day basis?


MR. TRAINI:  I would assume so, yes.


MS. ANNIS:  Great.  And just -- we were made aware of the franchise agreement this morning, or not made aware of it, but this is -- it's been addressed in these proceedings.


And I guess, I mean, you're aware that the franchise agreement is a form of agreement that's approved by the Board?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And that the purpose of that franchise agreement or one of the purposes of the franchise agreement is, in fact, to hammer out the details with respect to cost allocation for relocation of pipeline?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  And that's precisely why those agreements are in place, aren't they?


MR. TRAINI:  It's one of the reasons, yeah, for sure.


MR. KITCHEN:  And the franchise agreement also allows for pass-through or pipelines, doesn't it?  I mean, pipelines that are not necessarily serving the actual community?


And if you can't speak to this, then that's okay.  I can take my questions elsewhere.


MR. JUDSON:  That's the legal interpretation of a contract, and frankly, there are other views.


MS. ANNIS:  Fair enough.


Okay.  Now, the only other question I had was with respect to your retaining Mr. Fediw.  You said that you went to his office to retain him.


What day was that?


MR. TRAINI:  Well, I don't recall the exact date.  It was very shortly after I had learned from or had gotten the letter saying that Union Gas had moved away from their efforts to acquire easements within the County of Middlesex.


I spoke with Mr. Judson after receiving that letter, and our discussions were a peer review of the environmental report would be of some benefit.


I contacted -- I didn't contact Tony directly; I actually contacted his firm, AECOM, and asked them if they would be willing to do a peer review of an environmental report.


I met with Tony very shortly after that, at his office, and just told him that, you know:  This is a report from Union Gas.  Would you do a peer review of the environmental assessment of this type for a natural gas pipeline?


MS. ANNIS:  And when the county engages in that kind of -- in submitting that kind of expense, do you have to submit kind of terms -- I mean, we don't -- it's been -- the evidence is that we don't have terms of reference.


But just -- I mean, this is on the taxpayers' dollar, I'm assuming.  What are the kind of reporting procedures that you have to go through to get sign-off on that kind of thing?


MR. TRAINI:  So I have approval from my county council to -- as intervenor at the Board, I had permission from county council to do that, to submit the letter to be an intervenor at the oral hearing.


And at that time, I advised them there would be some consulting and definitely some legal costs involved with that.  Of course, Mr. Judson's on retainer with the county on a general purpose.


But the total cost, basically, through our purchasing policy, if the cost is estimated to be less than $10,000 for consulting work, we have the authority to go out and get a consultant's report done at our discretion.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Turning now to -- turning now to Mr. Fediw, I'm just going to get my...


Mr. Fediw, have you read the application that's before the Board in its entirety, or --


MR. FEDIW:  I've read the Azimuth report.


MS. ANNIS:  Just the Azimuth report?  Okay.


And so neither of you can -- can you provide me, then, with the date that you met with Mr. Traini?


MR. FEDIW:  I'm sure I can look it up on my calendar.  It was likely less than three weeks ago.


MS. ANNIS:  That would be helpful, if we could get that.


MR. TRAINI:  I think I have it.  I can tell you.


MR. MILLAR:  That will be Undertaking J1.2, and it is to confirm the date upon which Mr. Traini and Mr. Fediw initially met.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2: to CONFIRM DATE OF INITIAL MEETING BETWEEN MR. TRAINI AND MR. FEDIW.


MS. ANNIS:  Now, Mr. Fediw, just going your report, so your experience is that you don't actually have any experience drafting EAs, do you?


MR. FEDIW:  That's not true.


I've drafted significant EAs for the province of Ontario and actually for the city of London, as -- I'm currently working on the $15 million Sunningdale Road EA, which is within the subject area.  I've completed the ESDA study for the city of St. Thomas.


All in all, if you include master planning, which is technically part of the EA process, I would say I've done over $2 billion worth of EA for infrastructure.


MS. ANNIS:  That's good.  So then you would -- are you aware of the Technical Standards and Safety Act?


MR. FEDIW:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And are you aware that Regulation 210, oil and gas pipeline systems, governs the design, construction, operation, and maintenance of the oil and gas industry pipeline systems?


MR. FEDIW:  I'm aware of that.


MS. ANNIS:  And are you aware of any violations under section 210 that will be applicable here?


MR. FEDIW:  I'm not aware --


MS. ANNIS:  I'm referring specifically to section -- just look at a section of your report...


I'm at comment 7.


MR. FEDIW:  Page 8.  I don't understand the relevance of comment 7 to your reference.


MS. ANNIS:  Yeah.  Sorry.


Looking at table 1, you mention separate setbacks, California and Alberta, but in fact the pipeline in this situation isn't regulated?


MR. FEDIW:  That's correct.


MS. ANNIS:  Doesn't fall into California and Alberta, does it?


MR. FEDIW:  And if you read the top comment, it said that:

"The ESR should have reviewed socio-economic impacts that the proximity of large distribution pipe could have on adjacent property.  An example of such setbacks is appended below."


That's an example of setbacks.


MS. ANNIS:  Yeah, but you didn't bother referring to Regulation 210?


MR. FEDIW:  I did not, because I couldn't find that.  But I could find this.


And it was meant to show that there would be impacts on adjacent properties that were not covered in the ESR.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  So instead of providing the actual piece of legislation that does regulate the pipeline, you provided examples that are in California and Alberta?


MR. FEDIW:  I provided an example of the impact of a gas or petro-carbon pipeline --


MS. ANNIS:  Right.


MR. FEDIW:  -- on adjacent properties.  That is usually a standard socio-economic impact included in an ESR, that was missing in this ESR.


MS. ANNIS:  I would put it to you, though, that the TSSA is the only thing that regulates pipelines in Ontario, and that there are no violations of Regulation 210, and that would have been something that could have been looked at here?


MR. FEDIW:  There were no violations.  I did not say there would be violations; I said there would be impacts on adjacent properties wishing to develop.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  And just as Mr. Traini wasn't qualified to give a legal interpretation of the franchise agreement, are you a lawyer?


MR. FEDIW:  No.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Do you have any legal training?


MR. FEDIW:  No.


MS. ANNIS:  Okay.  Comment one, you refer to the Municipal Franchises Act?


MR. FEDIW:  Yes.


MS. ANNIS:  And you would know that that exception seems to apply?


MR. FEDIW:  I can read what I've read, and the interpretation is for somebody else to review.  I just provided the information.


MS. ANNIS:  But you are submitting an expert report.  Should you be submitting evidence on things that you are not an expert subject matter --


MR. FEDIW:  I see that not necessarily as a legal interpretation as more from a municipal infrastructure interpretation.


MS. ANNIS:  That's fine.  Those are my questions.

Question by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  I have a couple myself that I'll ask before any re-direct you may have, Mr. Judson.


Just a couple of things.  It strikes me that we've been talking about the potential of expropriation and when it may be needed.


Mr. Fediw, do you have any experience in expropriations, lead-up to expropriations and what may occur?


MR. FEDIW:  Yes, on several projects.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  And also, Mr. Traini, on your comment earlier about it being a team effort going forward, how do you -- when we have a series of potential public infrastructure improvements, installations, what have you - and this is, I think, what we're faced with here.


We have what's been demonstrated - and I recognize there's argument on this and questionable - as to the urgency of the need of this, but I think everybody understands and it doesn't seem to be contested that there is a need for this gas project.  Timing of it may be a factor, but there seems to be a need.


If it were in advance of the potential expropriation requirements for a road widening, given the sequencing of events and given the different jurisdictions and different expertise of boards that would review expropriations, how do you see them being combined?  How do you aggregate a total need along those lines?


In your experience, Mr. Fediw, have you ever seen that occur where you would have a -- for instance, on the gas pipeline, it would be this Board that would weigh in on the expropriations.  On a road widening, it would not be this Board.


MR. FEDIW:  In an ideal word, the road right of way would be taken first, because then there would be provision for the utilities, normal utilities, within the right of way in the typical cross-section.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. FEDIW:  It's quite common -- and I have expropriated land for a road project that was solely for the footprint of a utility.  Common are tiebacks, guy tiebacks for hydro poles.  They often exceed and go beyond the right of way, the normal right of way, but are still a requirement for the road project, because a hydro pole has to move, and it has to move to the edge of the normal right of way, and then the land is taken for the tiebacks.


And usually it's done on a very detailed manner where each person's property is shown to the nearest half of a metre to 10 centimetres.  It's a very tight need that's presented at a hearing of necessity.


So, ideally, if we knew the road needs - and the road needs would include some utility, some provision for utility - then that would be the way to go as opposed to trying to expropriate on behalf of a utility for a future road need.  It's easier to proceed with the road need and the combined utility needs together.


MR. QUESNELLE:  To the extent that there would be a demonstrable need for a utility, then, irrespective of gas or electric or whatever, any public utility, and that need is -- becomes obvious and there isn't a road plan in place nor a demonstrable need for expropriation - as you say, a very detailed exercise, to go through and expropriate land - how would the Board, then - how should the Board conduct itself, in your estimation, as to consideration of future needs of a separate and distinct public utility, that being the road -- a public infrastructure, that being the road?


I'm just curious.  You're commenting on it now, but, Mr. Traini, you suggested earlier that it would be a team effort to gain expropriation.  And in the review of need and public need for land and expropriation, which is obviously a very serious matter, how the Board would consider in a combined, in aggregate, what is apparently coming forward in sequence now, at this point?


MR. TRAINI:  You know, you talk about public good and public need.  You know, it's the one taxpayer.  So whether a taxpayer is supporting a partnership project that will result in a single disruption -- it may be a bit longer, but a single disruption, that will result in a well-designed road and utility installed at standard offsets and depths to keep future repair costs down, not only for the county but for Union Gas.  And I'm sure there's some additional costs involved with deep pipelines, if there is required repair.


Coordination of work, you know, all those sorts of things, the fear that Middlesex County has at this point in time, and this is shared by county council, is that Union Gas is going to go and put a pipeline in.  And if there was no plan on this road for 20 years, there would be a different situation.


But because it is a short time frame - and I'm very confident it is within this three-year window - the fear is that a pipeline will be put in the ground.  Significant portions of that pipeline will need to be relocated at an economic cost, because of the relocation portion that we would have to pay to Union Gas to have them relocate that line, and a social cost to have Union Gas have their forces come in the year after, as we would certainly be looking at them to come in in 2012 to do a relocation, because we would have our design by that point in time, and we would know where they would need to be.


To come back in a year later and disrupt these properties again to move a gas line a few metres out of the way because there's going to be a conflict with hydro poles or ditches or tile or municipal drains, to me that's the crux of the fear that we see in Middlesex County, is that county council feels irresponsible not to take a position to say:  What -- if Union Gas needs to go today, and the demonstrated need is accepted, then what is Union Gas willing to do to indemnify the residents of Middlesex County; that in a year, if we have to come back when the detailed design is complete, in coordination with Union Gas and their needs and the understanding that the pipe is already there, and making some modifications to the design to try to minimize the impact of relocation, what is Union Gas prepared to do to basically help the county avoid these additional costs?


And the process, in my opinion, has been rushed to the extreme, in such that we have not had an opportunity negotiate with Union Gas in that behalf because of this firm deadline of this hearing today, and sort of the quick solutions we've tried to find, either by getting easements or buying property or modifying design, or us trying to hurry our design as much as we can, to come to a final position where we're not causing Union Gas to have a huge additional expenditure of 65 percent of the infrastructure, a huge additional expense by the county of 35 percent of that cost sharing, and the disruption to the residents along that road.


So I'm not sure how we get there, but this is sort of where we're at with this dilemma, is that we can't provide the information fast enough for Union Gas to meet this firm deadline of being in the ground this summer with this pipeline.  And that's why we're at the Board.


I'm not sure how to go forward at this point with these really tight time lines.  It's very, very difficult.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And my point was more on the -- and thank you for that, but on the -- doing some regulatory reverse engineering here, if there were a requirement that drove an expropriation on behalf of Union, and it was due to a -- at this point, taking a safe route because there may be a road widening, for instance, would you expect this Board to hear evidence on the road requirements, traffic flows, safety in ditching design and those sorts of things, to then render a decision on expropriation for a hydrocarbon pipeline?


MR. TRAINI:  I would imagine we would provide evidence to this Board of what we needed to do to construct our road to a modern engineering standard, keeping in mind that we have responsibility through the Drainage Act to local municipal drains and environmental responsibilities and the whole gambit, and to provide and reserve space in terms of other agreements we have with other utilities, to provide corridors for Bell Telephone and hydro and you name it, as well as corridors for future water main and sewer.


We would provide that evidence to the Board in order to get support to say that there is a significant issue with room within an extremely narrow right of way, in our opinion, to provide a safe corridor and safe separation between these utilities, and provide a safe working environment for our future maintenance and capital works.


And I can't provide that to you today because I don't have the design prepared, because we -- I was not authorized to expend money doing design on a road that wasn't under my jurisdiction as of July of last year.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  Thank you.


MR. TRAINI:  Just for the Board's knowledge, the meeting date that Tony and I had was April the 28th, 2011.


MR. MILLAR:  I'll take it that discharges the undertaking, Mr. Chair?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, it does.  Thank you.


I don't have anything else, Mr. Judson, if you have any redirect.

Re-Examination by Mr. Judson:


MR. JUDSON:  Yes, thank you, Mr. Chair.


Just following along your questions and wanting to be sure that we're all talking apples and apples and we're not dealing with oranges, very early on in the evidence, you indicated that the current road allowance -- and let's just use those words for the moment -- was 20 metres, when the preferred municipal standard for this road would be 36 metres?


MR. TRAINI:  That's correct.


MR. JUDSON:  Now, you've also told us that there is no intent to turn this roadway into anything more than a two-lane road, subject to all of the other regrading and improvements that you've described?


MR. TRAINI:  Correct.


MR. JUDSON:  So my question to you is:  Even though the road itself will continue -- the travelled portion of the road will continue to be a two-lane road, is it your expectation that the design that will come forward will be to acquire a 36-foot road allowance or at least a 30-foot road allowance -- or a 30-metre road allowance?


MR. TRAINI:  It's difficult to say.  We would try to design for -- something that would work in the existing road allowance would be our preference.  Failing that, we would move to either a 30- or a 36-metre road allowance, as prescribed in our official plan.


MR. JUDSON:  And were either of those the case, then, land acquisition would be required?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MR. JUDSON:  Thank you.  Those are the questions I had.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Can I ask one more, Mr. Judson?


MR. JUDSON:  Yes, you sure can.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And who would take on that latter exercise, as to --


MR. JUDSON:  Yes, the land acquisition, I think you've indicated that the county's preference was for a friendly acquisition of land.


In the normal course, putting -- taking Union Gas as a player out of this for the moment, do I assume that a friendly acquisition would be attempted, failing which a decision would be made to go to a hearing of necessity, to be able to exercise your expropriation power?


MR. TRAINI:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And you would base that on your road design requirements?


MR. TRAINI:  That's right.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Okay.  Thank you.


I have nothing else at this point, but I am going to ask that you indulge me.  I'm going to take a 15-minute recess, and come back with further instructions as to what our next steps are.


I think that I want to just take a look at the -- some of the record and contemplate some of the answer just recently received, and come back to you at a quarter to 4:00 with further instructions from the Board.


Okay?  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 3:28 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:55 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


The Board has heard clear and cogent evidence today from both the applicant, Union Gas, and the intervenor, the County of Middlesex.  Both parties have mandates to perform works and function in a manner that serves the public interests.


The circumstances of this particular case are complicated by many factors, including the multiple parties involved and, to a degree, an institutional breakdown in communication.


Irrespective of what could have been done to improve on the communication situation and an earlier awareness of what needed to be done, what we're faced with now is primarily a concern of the sequencing of public infrastructure improvements and the timing to accommodate that.


The Board wishes to allow for a short period of time for the parties to meet in an attempt, a final attempt, to resolve the very real concerns that the parties have and that are shared by the Board.


There appears to be an abundance of goodwill and a relationship that has served the public well in the past.  The Board considers it appropriate to allow the parties one last opportunity to seek out solutions to a mutual satisfaction.


The Board requests that the applicant report back to the Board no later than the end of business two weeks from today on the status of any ongoing discussions, and to report on whether or not more time is needed or that may be proved to be fruitful in the continuation of those discussions.


At that time, the Board will decide what the next steps will be, and if no progress is apparent or not likely to occur, the Board will establish a rather expedient argument process to move this case along.


Any comment from the applicant or other parties?


MR. JUDSON:  On behalf of the County, Mr. Chair, let me thank you for that.  I think that is -- given the way the evidence went in and the clear goodwill of the parties, and, frankly, some discussions we've already started to have, I think that is a most efficacious way to go about this.


And on behalf of the county, we'll certainly cooperate to every extent possible.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Judson.  Ms. Annis?


MS. ANNIS:  And I would echo Mr. Judson's comments, in the sense that Union has been, from the very beginning, looking to cooperate and follow our standard procedure and work with the communities in which they have their infrastructure.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.  And that is something that the Board has come to expect from Union and certainly, recognizing the municipal role in all of this, recognizes that it's to -- the citizenry that it serves, that the county is operating in the public interest, as well.


So, okay, with that, we are adjourned and I look forward to hearing from the applicant in two weeks' time.  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:00 p.m.
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